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OUR BUSINESS

M.A.G is the largest UK-owned 
airport operator, serving  
42 million passengers and 
handling 650,000 tonnes of 
air freight every year, through 
its ownership and operation of 
Manchester, London Stansted, 
East Midlands and Bournemouth 
airports. Its property and facilities 
management arm, M.A.G 
Developments, is responsible 
for the Group’s estate and also 
the development of Manchester 
Airport City.

M.A.G’s overall strategic intent is 
to increase long term shareholder 
value by generating profitable 
growth, developing its assets and 
deploying efficient and customer 
focused operating processes 
throughout the business. 

M.A.G is privately managed on 
behalf of its shareholders, the local 
authorities of Greater Manchester 
and Industry Funds Management.

M.A.G is a private company, with 
shareholdings held by Council  
of the City of Manchester (35.5%), 
Industry Funds Management 
(35.5%) and the nine remaining 
Greater Manchester local 
authorities (29%).

PASSENGERS SERVED 
ANNUALLy By THE 
ENLARGED GROUP

42m
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Mike Davies 
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

Mike Davies 
Chairman 
M.A.G

It brings me great pleasure to report the 
continued financial growth of M.A.G in 
the year ended 31 March 2013. We have 
welcomed new shareholders in the form 
of Industry Funds Management (IFM) to 
the board and we have completed the 
acquisition of London Stansted Airport. 
This is an incredibly exciting development 
for the Group, securing Stansted is a huge 
opportunity for M.A.G and we are looking 
forward to working with our new colleagues 
to realise its full potential.

Our existing airports continue to buck the 
trend by performing strongly in passenger 
numbers. Manchester Airport is continuing 
to grow, with passenger numbers up to 
19.81 million this year, 680,000 more than 
the previous period, equivalent to a 3.6% 
year on year growth. This includes fourteen 
new destinations added in that time.  
In May 2013, on a 12 month rolling basis, 
20 million passengers used the airport,  
a number not reached since 2008.

East Midlands Airport has continued to 
play an important role both regionally and 
nationally, providing a vitally important 
facility for express freight services across  
the UK. The cargo and freight operation  
at the airport remains an integral part of the 
business and last year carried over 296,000 
tonnes of cargo, remaining broadly in line 
with the previous year and maintaining 
its position as the largest airport for pure 
freight and the second busiest cargo airport 
in the UK. In line with our expectations, East 

Midlands Airport encountered a short-term 
reduction in passenger numbers during the 
year, primarily as a result of the closure of 
the airline bmibaby, a prominent carrier at 
the airport. East Midlands has continued to 
make progress following the closure and 
subsequently secured additional capacity 
from other carriers, including a new base  
for Monarch Airlines and Flybe, to more 
than offset this impact by Summer 2013.

Bournemouth Airport has continued to  
work hard to secure new routes and 
services. The Business Park development 
and growth in general aviation provides  
a focus for the short-term.

Following the decision last year to sell 
Humberside Airport, we were pleased 
to find a buyer in the Eastern Group in 
August 2012. We wish them well in their 
development of the business.

We are working hard on our submissions to 
the Airports Commission, being headed by 
Sir Howard Davies. M.A.G believes that well 
targeted policy support from Government 
can contribute significantly to making more 
effective use of existing capacity, enhancing 
airport competition and providing greater 
choice and international connectivity for 
consumers. Reforming Air Passenger Duty 
(APD) and promoting de-regulation as a 
way to strengthen competition between the 
London airports are options we would like  
to see considered.

Our work to push economic development 
continues on a global scale as February saw 
the launch of the Manchester-China forum, 
a business-led initiative aimed at increasing 
Greater Manchester’s commercial activity 
in China. Led by M.A.G, and backed by a 
growing number of key Greater Manchester 
businesses, the forum will strengthen 
economic links with China with a view to 
secure direct air routes between Manchester 
and China, support Manchester exports, 
and increase inward investment. 

From the Property side, work on Airport City 
has commenced, with planning approval 
granted on both the World Logistics Hub 
and the main site to the North of the airport. 
The main site is set to create 11,400 jobs 
over the next ten to fifteen years and attract 
global businesses to the North West region, 
while the Logistics Hub could create a further 
1,800 jobs. Outline planning permission 
for Airport City was received earlier this 
year, with the scheme set to become a 
transformational infrastructure project for 
the whole of the North of England.

We are delighted to have Andrew Cowan 
join us as Chief Operating Officer in 
March 2013. Having previously been Chief 
Executive of Robertson Group his knowledge 
of infrastructure, construction and services 
is a welcome asset. He takes over the role 
from Andrew Harrison, to whom we wish 
great success as the new Managing Director 
of Stansted Airport.

As a consequence of the acquisition of 
Stansted, the corporate and Board structure 
was changed. Stuart Chambers, Mike 
Hancox, Bernard Priest and David Partridge 
retired as Non-Executive Directors, whilst 
Sir Richard Leese, Kieran Quinn, Christian 
Seymour and Manoj Mehta joined the 
Board. On behalf of the Company, I would 
like to express our thanks to the former 
Directors, who helped steer the Group 
through the period of fundamental change.

Finally, I would like to extend thanks to 
all M.A.G colleagues for their dedicated 
contributions over the past year. This has 
marked another year of strong performance 
for the Group, and success would not have 
been possible without their hard work.
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CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE’S 
OPERATING 
REVIEW

This year has seen the group 
achieve a key milestone in its 
strategy to be the premier airport 
services business.

The acquisition of London Stansted 
and the investment from our 
additional new shareholder, 
Industry Funds Management,  
are exciting developments for the 
Group, that has also seen continued 
success at all of our airports, despite 
tough economic conditions.

Increases in revenue (up 5.3%) and 
operating profit (up 12.4%) underline 
the financial strength of the Group.

The acquisition of Stansted creates 
a major UK Airports Group with 
turnover in excess of £600m and 
operating profits greater than 
£140m per annum.

Charlie Cornish 
Chief Executive

DESTINATIONS  
+6.5% INCREASE

230
2012: 216

PASSENGER NUMBERS  
+1.9% INCREASE

24.5m
2012: 24.0m

REVENUE* 
+5.3% INCREASE

£393.1m
2012: £373.2m

OPERATING PROFIT* 
+12.4% INCREASE

£73.6m
2012: £65.5m

*Before significant items

*Excluding Stansted

Charlie Cornish 
Chief Executive 
M.A.G
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PERFORMANCE MEASURES

We focus on a number of key performance measures to ensure we build value for our shareholders on a consistent basis over the long term. This has been a year of great progress  
for M.A.G. We achieved a major milestone 
in our strategic vision in successfully 
acquiring London Stansted Airport in 
February. The newly enlarged Group has 
a portfolio of four quality Airports, bringing 
size and scale to the Group. The national 
footprint and access to the London market 
that the acquisition brings is fully aligned to 
the Group’s mission – to deliver sustainable 
growth in shareholder value, balancing 
the needs of our customers, passengers, 
employees and communities in which  
we work, whilst maintaining the highest 
safety and security standards. Also we  
are delighted to welcome Industry  
Funds Management to the Group as  
a shareholder.

This is a time of significant political and 
economic debate over airport capacity 
in the UK and specifically the South East. 
Capacity constraints need to be addressed 
to ensure that the UK remains competitive 
in the European aviation market as the 
leading hub destination for the long term 

future. M.A.G is working hard on its 
submissions for the Airports Commission 
whose ultimate outcome will be important 
for all airports in the Group.

Having taken an important step, the 
Group remains committed to its vision to 
be the premier airport management and 
services company. During 2013 our new 
operating model, implemented following 
a comprehensive strategic review in the 
prior year – Transformation 2011, has 
been fully embedded. The strategic review 
aligned the business operations to core 
functions – Commercial, Operations and 
Assets. This model has already generated 
significant efficiencies through streamlined 
processes and leverage of commercial 
initiatives across the Group’s airports. 
The processes and efficiencies have given 
scalability to the Group that will be used  
in both integrating Stansted into the Group 
and reaching our vision.

M.A.G’s vision and values are supported 
by the operating structure, our values 

are a combination of the Group’s 
characteristics and those that we continue 
to emphasise in order to make our 
business, including the integration  
of Stansted into the Group, a success.  
Our values are:

Finger on the pulse ■

Brilliant at what matters ■

Safe hands ■

The power of teamwork ■

Why Not? ■

The combination of these values is 
embedded throughout the business.  
A high-performing management team 
is in place, with UK and international 
experience in key sectors including airlines, 
airports, retail and infrastructure.  
We expect M.A.G to continue to deliver its 
key financial and operational performance 
indicators going forward.

OUR MISSION, VISION AND VALUES

The Corporate Social Responsibility report on page 30 provides further information on our performance against key operational 
indicators during the year.

OUR PRINCIPAL KEy PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIS) – EXCLUDING STANSTED

Measure Aim Context Progress in 2013 Change %

Revenue Achieve long-term and steady growth  
in revenue

We aim to deliver sustainable growth across all areas of our business –  
aviation, car parking, retail and property

£393.1m
2012: £373.2m

+5.3

EBITDA1 Generate a level of profit that allows  
re-investment in our infrastructure

We cover the cost of using our assets with income from our operations £137.9m 
2012: £131.0m

+5.3

Operating profit2 Achieve steady and increasing profit  
from operations

We expect all our operations to positively contribute to the Group’s result £73.6m 
2012: £65.5m

+12.4

ROCE3 Achieve a healthy ROCE which exceeds  
our cost of capital

We generate profits which cover the cost of investing in our asset base 10.4% 
2012: 9.7%

+0.7

Occupancy rates4 Achieve a high level of occupancy  
on lettable property

We generate improved revenue by maximising occupancy of our existing  
property portfolio

94% 
2012: 95%

-1.1

Investment  
Property Value

Generate growth in capital value of  
our property portfolio

We manage our property portfolio to realise maximum value from  
disposals and re-invest in new developments

£347.8m

Capital Investment Provide effective investment in operational  
assets to improve efficiency and support growth

We invest in opportunities that generate the best shareholder value,  
and enhance the quality of our airport services

£63.1m

Free cash flow5 Maintain a high level of free cash flow We focus on converting our operating profits and maintenance capital  
expenditure into cash to fund further investment and returns to shareholders

£60.6m 
2012: £33.3m

+82.0

Shareholder  
return6

Maintain distributions for shareholders  
at an appropriate level

We provide returns to reward the shareholders investment £39.5m 
2012: £39.5m

0.0

Market share7 Grow our share of the market Measures the performance of M.A.G compared to the UK market 15.9% 
2012: 15.8%

+0.6

Passengers (m) Maximise passenger volumes through  
our airports

Increasing the number of passengers contributes to growth in our aviation  
and commercial revenue streams

24.5m 
2012: 24.0m

+1.9

Destinations Provide access to all major global holiday  
and business destinations

As a premier airport services company we aim to provide access to  
anywhere in the world from our airports

230 
2012: 216

+6.5

ASQ scores8 Improve performance for our airports  
in their respective benchmark groups

We aim to ensure that customer satisfaction levels are at the highest  
possible standard

3.89 
2012: 3.98

-2.3

Departure  
punctuality9

Maintain a high level of on-time  
departures

We maximise our service to airline partners by providing efficient  
airport operations

80.4% 
2012: 81%

-0.7

Carbon Reduction –  
CO2 emissions

Minimise the environmental impact  
of our operations

M.A.G has committed that its operations to become carbon neutral by  
2015. We closely monitor our CO2 emissions and environmental impact.

25,000 
2012: 33,108

-24.5

Our Communities – 
volunteering hours

Contributing to the surrounding  
communities

M.A.G employees will voluntarily support our neighbouring communities 5,557 
2012: 4,131

+34.5

ATMs per  
complaint10

Being good neighbours with  
our communities

Minimising the impact of our operations on the local community 225 
2012: 226

-0.4

Health and Safety 
RIDDOR11 –  
reportable accidents

Maintain robust health and safety  
standards

The safety of our customers and colleagues is extremely important to us,  
and we value a safe working and operating environment for all.

27 
2012: 28

-3.6

NOTES:
1 EBITDA is Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation, before significant items.
2 Operating profit is stated before significant items.
3 ROCE is derived from operating profit pre-significant items as a percentage of average 

capital employed. It is calculated on an historical cost basis.
4 Measured as let space as a percentage of full occupancy space.
5 Free Cash flow is net cash from operations less maintenance capital expenditure.
6 Shareholder return comprises dividends and returns from shareholder loans.
7 Market share excludes Heathrow Airport.
8 Air Service Quality scores are for Manchester Airport only.

9 Measured as percentage of departures within 15 minutes of scheduled departure time.
10 Measured as the number of Air Traffic Movements (‘ATMs’) per complaint – 

Manchester Airport only.
11 RIDDOR stands for the reporting of injuries, disease and dangerous occurrences 

regulations. The regulations stipulate the most serious types of incidents, which 
must be reported to the Health and Safety Executive.

Amber ratings as occupancy rates, on time departures and ATMs are reflective of 
consistent performance with minimal change.

10
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of new stores opening during the year, 
including only the second Lonely Planet 
store worldwide, which opened in Terminal 
1 in July, and new Travelex currency outlets 
and Clarins stores.

EAST MIDLANDS AIRPORT 

There have been a number of significant 
developments for East Midlands Airport 
during the year, as the airport set out plans 
to enhance the passenger experience with 
a £12 million terminal upgrade, which 
will reconfigure the terminal layout. This 
will include an enhanced retail offer and a 
major refurbishment of the security search 
area. The project is progressing well and 
is scheduled to be completed in Summer 
2014. As part of East Midlands Airport’s 
continued commitment to sustainability, 
the terminal upgrade project incorporates 
key environmental techniques and is 
estimated to save approximately 315 
tonnes of carbon annually, whilst providing 
a 15% reduction in energy usage.

East Midlands Airport is renowned for  
its proactive approach and dedication  
to the environment and after successfully 
achieving a series of world-leading 
projects and UK firsts, the airport 
announced in August 2012, that it was 
the first airport in the UK to have reached 
its challenging target of carbon neutral 
ground operations. 

In line with our expectations, East 
Midlands Airport encountered a short-
term reduction in passenger numbers 
during the year, primarily as a result 
of Lufthansa’s decision to sell its BMI 
Regional operations and in September 
2012 to close the airline, bmibaby, 
a prominent carrier at East Midlands 

MANCHESTER AIRPORT

Manchester Airport has again performed 
well during the past year, and continues 
on an upward trajectory. By the end of 
the financial year it had reached 19.8m 
passengers, up 0.7m from the previous 
year, with March marking the 10th 
consecutive month of year on year growth. 
This has been a fantastic achievement and 
the result of hard work across the business 
and we aim to continue on that path 
attracting more passengers back to the 
airport. The launch of the ‘Fly Manchester’ 
campaign at the start of 2013 was the first 
phase of attracting passengers back to the 
airport and promoting the wide range of 
services we have on long-haul and short-
haul routes from a range of airline carriers.

Summer 2012 saw 14 new routes 
introduced from Manchester, including 
new services from existing carriers 
such as Ryanair, Jet2.com, easyJet and 
Monarch. Long-haul scheduled flights 
added to the roster included United 
Airlines to Washington DC, and links 
were strengthened further by a daily 
TAP Portugal route to Lisbon, allowing 
easier onwards connections into South 
America. Flybe added to the route network 
by basing a regional network hub at 
Manchester, the first independent carrier 
in the UK to do so, which provided an 
additional 86 hub connections to the 
airport. This has been to the benefit of 
some of our long-haul carriers also as their 
passengers have been able to use Flybe’s 
extensive UK network for onward travel.

Manchester was named UK’s favourite 
Airport once again in a survey conducted 
by travel search site Skyscanner, being 
noted for customer service, facilities 
and shopping as well as the best retail 
experience. Retail benefitted from a variety 

Airport. The airport has continued to 
make progress following the closure and 
subsequently secured additional capacity 
with other carriers to more than offset this 
impact by Summer 2013. 

During the year, Flybe, Ryanair and  
Jet2.com continued to expand their 
operations and launch new services, 
which will support passenger growth at 
the airport during Summer 2013 and 
preserve many routes previously operated 
by bmibaby. The launch of Monarch 
Airline’s new base at East Midlands Airport 
has furthermore contributed to passenger 
growth and increased international 
connectivity through a larger number of 
carriers operating from the airport. Also 
in Summer 2013, the airport will welcome 
the 787 Dreamliner aircraft, operated 
by Thomson, which will serve long-haul 
destinations, Cancun and Orlando, direct 
from East Midlands Airport. Manchester 
will also host the new aircraft and we are 
pleased that two of our airports will be 
home to the aircraft.

In addition to the role East Midlands 
Airport plays as an important regional 
airport serving the Midlands, it is also 
a key national cargo airport, providing 
a vitally important facility for express 
freight services for the whole of the UK. 
The cargo and freight operation at the 
airport remains an integral part of the East 
Midlands Airport business and last year 
carried over 296,000 tonnes of cargo, 
remaining broadly in line with the previous 
year and maintaining its position as the 
largest airport for pure freight and the 
second busiest cargo airport in the UK.

LONDON STANSTED AIRPORT

The acquisition of London Stansted Airport in 
February 2013 marked a transformational 
year for M.A.G, and we continue to work 
to integrate the team into our organisation 
in a way that will maintain quality service 
for passengers. The airport currently 
accommodates 17.5m passengers a year 
and is the fourth busiest in the UK, serving 
150 destinations across 30 countries. 

The purchase was a historic step in our 
wider ambitions to be recognised as 
the premier airport management and 
services company as we added a quality 

airport to our Group and we welcomed 
Industry Funds Management (IFM) to our 
board as new shareholders. Growing and 
diversifying the airline mix will be a key 
component of our approach at Stansted  
in the short and medium term. We aim  
to invest in the terminal infrastructure in 
the next two years so we can attract  
more passengers through the airport  
and begin to boost passenger numbers 
again. London will be a competitive 
market in the short term but we believe 
M.A.G is well placed to take advantage  
of growth opportunities.

London Stansted will also be key to the 
Airports Commission as the debate over 
capacity in the UK intensifies during the year. 
The spare capacity currently at the airport 
can provide solutions towards alleviating 
congestion in London and we have already 
started to submit evidence to the commission 
where we have advised that well targeted 
policy support from Government can 
contribute to making more effective use of 
existing capacity. The Government can play 
a role in enhancing airport competition and 
providing greater choice and international 
connectivity for consumers.

PASSENGER TRAFFIC By SECTOR (000’s)

4,440 1,306
10

15,432 3,280

Charter short-haulScheduled short-haul Scheduled long-haul Charter long-haul Private and miscellaneous

2013 TOTAL (ExCL STANSTED) – 24,468

Charter short-haulScheduled short-haul Scheduled long-haul Charter long-haul Private and miscellaneous

5,117 1,309
9

14,448 3,132

2012 TOTAL – 24,015

PASSENGER TRAFFIC By AIRPORT (000’s)

19,813 6703,985
1,347

East MidlandsManchester Bournemouth Stansted

2013 TOTAL – 25,815

East MidlandsManchester Bournemouth

2012 TOTAL – 24,015

19,129 6184,268

In the 12 months to 31 March 2013, Stansted Airport served 17,517,000 passengers, of which 1,347,000 
were in the one month period following acquisitions.

12
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with existing airport cities around the 
globe, making Manchester internationally 
known as not just the gateway of 
Northern England but as an international 
destination in its own right. Outline 
planning permission was secured on both 
sites at the beginning of 2013 and work 
has commenced on-site.

An investor search has been conducted  
in conjunction with CBRE and has 
stretched around the world as we look  
to bring international investors on board. 
The response was pleasing and we aim 
to announce the successful consortium 
in 2013. The experience they bring will 
be key in delivering the project to its 
conclusion. This will be a long term project 
and will be transformational for the Group 
and the North of England as we look to 
build the UK’s first Airport City. 

Manchester Airport has been unveiled as 
one of the destinations for the High Speed 
2 rail link. The enhanced connectivity 
stands to benefit both Manchester traffic 
and alleviate congestion at London 
Airports by providing the option to travel 
from the north instead.

INVESTMENTS

M.A.G has a leading edge approach 
to asset management, with in-depth 
experience of operating at every stage  
of the asset life cycle, including regulation, 
asset planning, capital programme 
management, construction management 
and capital maintenance. 

Significant capital projects have taken 
place during the year. Manchester Airport’s 
new Air Traffic Control Tower will be 
completed in early 2013/14 and over 
2,900 car parking spaces have been 
added at the airport during 2012-13.

BOURNEMOUTH AIRPORT

Bournemouth Airport continues to be a 
good base for the low cost sector and is 
performing well in relation to the difficult 
economic conditions of the market. The 
park stands to create new opportunities 
for local business, attract new business 
to the area and create 1,000 new jobs, 
in addition to providing jobs during the 
construction stage. Outline planning 
permission has been secured, and 
development will ultimately be driven by 
market demand, delivered in phases over 
the next ten years. Plans also include a 
range of regeneration and sustainability 
benefits, improved vehicular access, better 
public transport links and pedestrian and 
bicycle access.

HUMBERSIDE AIRPORT

In August 2012 the decision to sell 
Humberside Airport was finalised, 
with Eastern Group buying the 82.7% 
shareholding from M.A.G. The sale was in 
keeping with M.A.G’s ambition to focus on 
maximising the growth opportunities of its 
larger airports, and represented the best 
possible outcome for M.A.G, Humberside 
Airport and its new owners.

PROPERTy

Plans for Airport City were approved by 
Manchester City Council with the new 
business district set to create 11,400 jobs 
over the next ten to fifteen years and boost 
the region’s construction industry and 
local supply chains. As the focal point of 
the 116-hectare Manchester Enterprise 
Zone, the venture will invigorate the local 
area, including nearby Wythenshawe 
and support the growth of the Mediapark 
initiative at University Hospital South 
Manchester. The project will compete 

Development of the terminal at East 
Midlands Airport commenced in the  
year. This project is expected to greatly 
enhance the customer experience and  
we look forward to its completion in  
time for Summer 2014.

OUTLOOK

The Group has doubled in size as it serves 
nearly 42 million passengers through its 
ownership and operation of Manchester, 
London Stansted, East Midlands and 
Bournemouth airports. The property side 
of the business also adds strength to the 
business with its £500m portfolio and its 
involvement in the £650m development  
of Airport City. 

The group’s overall strategic intent is to 
increase its long term shareholder value by 
generating profitable growth, developing 
its assets and deploying efficient and 
customer focused operating processes 
throughout the business. By achieving this 
ambition, we believe M.A.G can become 
the premier airport management and 
services company. 

We continue to have a global outlook 
and this has helped to bring our new 
shareholders, IFM, into the Group. They are 
a highly experienced, long-term investor 
in airports and have significant interests in 
nine airports across Australia, including five 
major capital city airports. Our partnership 
ensures the Group is in good hands as we 
celebrate our 75th year of operation. 

Our approach to commercial activity has 
been positive and reflects well in the financial 
performance of the business so we believe 
we can continue to grow our customer base 
and reach into new markets.

14
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FINANCIAL 
REVIEW

M.A.G has continued to deliver 
strong financial performance 
throughout 2012-13, through 
passenger growth, improvement in 
commercial performance, rigorous 
cost control and process efficiency.

Through the year, this financial 
performance helped secure the 
successful introduction of a new 
equity partner for the group, new 
financing facilities of £1.2bn and 
the acquisition of Stansted Airport.

Neil Thompson ACA, CTA 
Chief Financial Officer

NOTES:
1 Continuing items before impact of Stansted Airport, 

acquired 28 February 2013.
2 Before significant items.

REVENUE1  
+5.3% INCREASE

£393.1m
2012: £373.2m

EBITDA1,2  
+5.3% INCREASE

£137.9m
2012: £131.0m

OPERATING PROFIT1,2  
+12.4% INCREASE

£73.6m
2012: £65.5m

CASH FROM OPERATIONS2 
+14.6% INCREASE

£148.6m
2012: £129.7m

Neil Thompson 
Chief Financial Officer 
M.A.G
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SUMMARy PERFORMANCE

Performance of the Group  
excluding Stansted
Passenger numbers across the Group, 
have increased by 0.5m to 24.5m, which 
is predominantly driven by growth at 
Manchester. Group revenue, has grown 
by 5.3% to £393.1m, driven by passenger 
growth and improved yields on commercial 
income. Aviation income yield has improved 
by 3.2% on the prior year in a competitive 
market and commercial income yields 
(including retail and car parks) have 
improved reflecting our continued ability to 
provide value adding services to complement 
the customer journey through our airports.

Underlying Operating Profit (before 
significant items) has increased by £8.1m 
to £73.6m. Improvements in revenue and 
yield have positively impacted profit as a 
result of our well controlled cost base.

Acquisition of Stansted including results 
for one month to 31 March 2013
Following its acquisition on 28 February 
2013, Stansted has contributed one month 
of financial performance to the Group, 
being 1.3m passengers, £18.4m of 
revenue, £5.2m of EBITDA and an operating 
loss, after fair value depreciation charge, of 
£0.6m. This contribution takes the Group’s 
total to 25.8m passengers, £411.5m 
revenue, £143.1m of EBITDA and £73.0m 
of operating profit before significant items.

As part of the acquisition of Stansted Airport 
in February we have incurred a number 
of significant, one-off, acquisition related 
costs. These costs include professional fees 
and other directly attributable costs and 
have been expensed in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Further significant costs have been incurred 
to fully implement the new operating model 
for the enlarged Group.

GROUP PERFORMANCE

Performance of the Group 
excluding Stansted
Group revenue is £393.1m, an increase 
of £19.9m from 2012 representing 
growth of 5.3%.

Aviation income is £185.8m, an 
increase of £16.2m (9.6%) on 2012, 
driven by growth in passenger volumes. 
Scheduled short-haul routes to Europe 
and development of hub networks with 
our airline partners have both contributed 
strongly to this growth trend. Aviation 
yields are ahead of the prior year through 
a combination of passenger mix and 
management action to maximise per 
passenger returns.

Cargo income, represents 6% of aviation 
income and remains consistent with the 
prior year at £11.3m.

Retail income, has grown by £0.5m with 
passenger growth outweighing a small 
decline in average passenger yield due 
to changes in the mix of arriving and 
departing passengers from EU and Non-
EU destinations.

Revenue from car parking, is £56.4m, 
£4.4m (+7.8%) greater than 2012 
(£52.0m), reflecting the increase in parking 
spaces made available during the year to 
match the growing passenger numbers 
and a wider product offering. The Group 
now has over 38,000 car park spaces 
available for passengers. Car parking 
yields have also grown by 5.0%, reflecting 
the continued development of the Group’s 
parking offerings – in particular within the 
‘pre-book’ and ‘meet-and-greet’ parking 
products. Further improvements to car 
parking capacity and offerings are  
planned in 2013-14.

Property income, is £34.8m, a decline 
on the prior year of 7.2% largely as a 

result of the prior year benefiting from 
£3.8m of proceeds from a development 
property sale. Removing this impact, 
underlying Property Income has increased 
by £1.1m (3.3%) despite experiencing rent 
reductions on a hotel property in CVA at 
Manchester and the disposal of a property 
at East Midlands Airport. The development 
of our existing property estate by our in-
house specialists, M.A.G Developments, 
for future deals continues to be part of our 
property strategy to realise the best value 
from our estate.

Costs have increased by £11.8m (3.8%) 
due in part to increases in Air Traffic 
Control costs, higher marketing support 

HEADLINES

Passenger growth 0.5m +1.9% ■ 1 – 
ahead of UK market

Aviation income ■ 1 £185.8 (+9.6%)

Commercial income ■ 1 £170.1m 
(+2.4%)

Property income ■ 1,3 £34.8m (+ 3.3%)

EBITDA ■ 1,2 137.9 (+5.3%)

Operating profit ■ 1,2 £73.6m (+12.4%)

Capital Investment £63.1m ■

Net cash from operations ■ 2 £148.6m 
(+14.6%)

Net debt £1,117.4m ■

1 Continuing items before impact of Stansted Airport, 
acquired 28 February 2013.

2 Before significant items.
3 Underlying excluding RVL development revenue  

of £nil (2012: £3.8m).

costs which have been invested to support 
the development on new business and 
increases in staff and regulation costs. 
Employment costs have increased following 
the strategic decision to ‘in-source’ security 
service provision at East Midlands Airport 
during the year. Adjusting for this effect, 
employee costs have increased in line 
with inflation. In September 2012, the 
EU ruled against the continued use of 
x-ray technology within passenger body 
scanners. Following this decision, the 
scanners that Manchester Airport were 
trialing were replaced and this factor, 
combined with additional border control 
and enforcement requirements, increased 
compliance and security costs.

169.6 74.6 52 37.5 39.5 £373.2m2012

INCOME ANALySIS (£M) Aviation Retail Car parking OtherProperty

185.8 75.1 56.4 34.8 41 £393.1m2013

PASSENGERS (M)

24.5

24.0

22.5

2012/13

2011-12

2010/11

EBITDA (£M)

137.9

131.0

115.5

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

EBIT (£M)

73.6

65.5

52.0

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

SUMMARy OF THE yEAR’S RESULTS (£M)

2013 Excl Stansted1 Stansted2 2013 2012 Change % Excl Stansted

Passenger numbers  24.5  1.3  25.8  24.0 1.9%
Revenue  393.1  18.4  411.5  373.2 5.3%
EBITDA  137.9 5.2 143.1  131.0 5.3%
Operating profit before significant items  73.6 (0.6)  73.0  65.5 12.4%
Result before taxation and significant items  39.6 (1.3)  38.3  35.8 10.6%
Cash generated from operations before 
significant items

148.6 129.7 14.6%

Net debt  1,117.4  398.7 180.3%
Equity shareholders' funds 1,523.7  761.9 100.1%

Proposed underlying dividend 42 20 110%

Proposed special dividend 30 - N/A

1 From continuing operations, excluding the results for Humberside Airport, reported as a discontinued operation.
2 For the one month period since acquisition.
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MANCHESTER AIRPORT 

Passenger numbers have increased by 
3.6% on the prior year, outperforming  
the UK market. 

2,900 new car parking spaces were 
added at Manchester in 2012-13 with 
4,700 more planned in the coming 
year. Management of the capacity and 
promotion of new products, such as valet 
parking, has helped increase net car park 
yield despite the continued trend for our 
passengers to pre-book their parking.

EBITDA has increased by £7.7m (6.1%)  
to £134.6m, through growth in revenue 
and effective cost control.

PASSENGER INCOME AND OPERATING COSTS (£ PER PASSENGER)

Aviation 
7.4

Commercial 
7.1

Operating costs 
11.9

2011

Aviation 
7.5

Commercial 
7.1

Operating costs 
11.6

2012

Aviation 
8.0

Commercial 
7.2

Operating costs 
11.7

2013

Manchester Airport

REVENUE ANALySIS FOR MANCHESTER AIRPORT

2013 2012 Change %

Passengers (million)  19.8  19.1 3.6%
Revenue (£m)  307.8  282.0 9.1%
EBITDA (£m) 134.6  126.9 6.1%

SUMMARy OF REVENUE By DIVISION (£M)

2013 2012 Change %

Manchester Airport  307.8  282.0 9.1%
M.A.G Developments  30.5  31.4 -2.9%
East Midlands Airport  50.8  50.2 1.2%
Bournemouth Airport  10.1  10.1 0.0%
Other businesses and consolidation (6.1) (0.5) 1,120.0%

 393.1  373.2 5.3%
Stansted Airport  18.4 - 

 411.5  373.2 10.3%

EBITDA By DIVISION (£M)

2013 2012 Change %

Manchester Airport  134.6  126.9 6.1%
M.A.G Developments  19.9  19.6 1.5%
East Midlands Airport  18.7  13.8 35.5%
Bournemouth Airport  1.9 (0.6) 416.7%
Other businesses and consolidation (37.2) (28.7) 29.6%

 137.9  131.0 5.3%
Stansted Airport  5.2  - 

 143.1  131.0 9.2%

NOTE:
EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and significant items.

Depreciation costs, excluding Stansted, 
are £2.0m higher than 2012 as a result of 
continued investment in infrastructure, offset 
by a reduction in depreciation charged 
against assets at Bournemouth, that were 
impaired in 2012. Other departmental costs 
continue to be tightly controlled and are in 
line with 2012 through the implementation 
of various efficiency programmes.

Underlying operating profit (before 
significant items) has increased by  
£8.1m to £73.6m.

Stansted contribution
During the year, the group incurred 
significant, non-recurring costs in relation 
to the acquisition of Stansted Airport. 
These costs of £28.4m were incurred for 

professional fees and services in relation 
to contracts and due diligence as well as 
stamp duty incurred on the acquisition 
have been expensed in the period as 
required under International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Restructuring costs of £1.1m relate to 
the final element of implementing the 
operational changes to the business that 
commenced in 2012.

Following its acquisition on 28 February, 
Stansted Airport contributed £18.4m 
to group revenue, including £10.3m of 
aviation income, £3.3m of retail income, 
£2.6m of car parking income, £1.0m 
of rental income and costs (including 
depreciation) of £19m.

Bournemouth Airport check-in hall
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East Midlands Airport

Bournemouth Airport

EAST MIDLANDS AIRPORT 

Passenger numbers have decreased 
by 6.6%, largely due to the impact of 
bmibaby withdrawing their service during 
the summer 2012 season. However 
the bmibaby services have now been 
backfilled and strengthened by a new 
Monarch base, and increased flying  
from Flybe, Jet2 and Ryanair.

Cargo volumes were 296,000 tonnes, 
broadly in line with 2012 levels. Revenue 
from cargo has increased to £9.2m from 
£9.0m in the prior year, as carriers have 
added new routes and increased the size 
of aircraft.

EBITDA is £18.7m, £4.9m higher than 
2012. In May 2012, the security operation 
was brought in-house, having previously 
been operated on an ‘out-sourced’ basis 
bringing greater efficiency and operating 
flexibility as well as cost savings to this  
core operational area. 

BOURNEMOUTH AIRPORT 

Revenue was broadly in line with 2012, 
and EBITDA has increased by £2.5m 
to £1.9m, reflecting improved car park 
performance and continued efforts  
to manage the cost base in line with 
trading activity.

PASSENGER INCOME AND OPERATING COSTS (£ PER PASSENGER)

2013

Aviation 
5.6

Commercial 
5.8

Operating costs 
9.5

2012

Aviation 
5.3

Commercial 
5.4

Operating costs 
10.2

2011

Aviation 
5.7

Commercial 
5.1

Operating costs 
10.1

PASSENGER INCOME AND OPERATING COSTS (£ PER PASSENGER)

2013

Aviation 
5.9

Commercial 
7.2

Operating costs 
13.2

2012

Aviation 
6.6

Commercial 
8.2

Operating costs 
20.7

2011

Aviation 
6.4

Commercial 
7.6

Operating costs 
17.7

REVENUE ANALySIS FOR BOURNEMOUTH AIRPORT

2013 2012 Change %

Passengers (million)  0.7  0.6 16.6%
Revenue (£m)  10.1  10.1 0.0%
EBITDA (£m) 1.9 -0.6 416.7%

REVENUE ANALySIS FOR EAST MIDLANDS AIRPORT

2013 2012 Change %

Passengers (million)  4.0  4.3 -6.6%
Revenue (£m)  50.8  50.2 1.2%
EBITDA (£m) 18.7  13.8 35.5%
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PENSIONS

During the year the aggregate of the Group’s 
defined benefit schemes, excluding Stansted, 
moved from an IAS 19 accounting deficit of 
£75.2m to £70.7m (£54.5m after allowing 
for the impact of deferred taxation). As part 
of the acquisition of Stansted the Group 
established a new defined benefit pension 
scheme, M.A.G (STAL) Pension scheme, to 
transfer active members, that transferred with 
the airport sale, from the Heathrow Airport 
Holdings Limited scheme. At 31 March 
2013, the M.A.G (STAL) Pension scheme is in 
overall deficit of £6.8m on an IAS 19 basis.

The accounting deficit for all Group schemes 
is calculated by the scheme actuaries who 
incorporate a number of factors, but in 
particular are required to use a number of 
metrics taken from the financial markets at 
the date of the accounting scheme year-
end. The Greater Manchester pensions 
Fund (GMPF) scheme comprises 77% of the 
aggregate Group pension scheme deficit. 

The decrease in the deficit is largely as a 
result of asset returns more than offsetting 
decreases in discount rate, which is 
calculated with reference to the AA corporate 
bond rate, the reduction being from 4.95% 
at 31 March 2012 to 4.4% at March 2013 
(4.6% for M.A.G (STAL) Pension Scheme). 

All of the Group’s defined benefit schemes 
are closed to new entrants. The Group 
operates a defined contribution scheme  
for all new staff.

TAX
The tax credit for the year includes the 
benefit of an adjustment to the deferred tax 
liability as a result of a change in the UK 
corporation tax rate, which was 26% at 31 
March 2012, 24% on 31 March 2013 and 
will change to 23% for the year ended 31 
March 2014. This has reduced the deferred 
tax charge by £8.6m (2012 £18.2m). These 
factors together have meant the Group’s 

effective tax rate before significant items 
was a rate of 2% (2012: 23.4% credit).

EQUITy SHAREHOLDERS  
FUND AND DIVIDENDS

Equity shareholders funds are £1,523.7m 
(2012: £761.9m). The movement primarily 
relates to the increase in share capital 
and share premium following the new 
investment into the Group from Industry 
Funds Management, which comprised 
£799.6m of new equity and £89.4m of 
long term shareholder loans. Further items 
comprise £37.6m result from operations 
before significant items, less £59.4m from 
non-recurring significant expenses and a net 
£0.5m gain recorded in reserves for actuarial 
pension movements (net of deferred taxation).

The Group has a long-term objective 
of providing sustainable and growing 
dividends to shareholders consistent with 
an appropriate long-term dividend policy.

Both the underlying operating profit 
and operating cash flows have been 
successfully grown during the year and 
the Directors are pleased to propose an 
increase in dividends to £42m FY13/14. 
In addition, as part of the new equity 
investment from IFM and the cash 
acquired as part of the purchase of 
Stansted, an additional £30m is being 
returned to shareholders as part of a one-
off dividend, bringing the total proposed 
dividend to £72m.

STANSTED
The acquisition of Stansted Airport in 
February 2013 was an important strategic 
development for the group, the transaction 
representing a significant milestone in 
the achievement of the Group’s strategic 
objective of adding a quality airport to the 
Group and delivering long term value to our 
shareholders. The acquisition gives the Group 
access to the London market and increases 
the geographic reach of the group to 
enhance our ability to attract and retain short, 
medium and long-haul aviation partners.

The Group acquired the entire share 
capital of Stansted in February 2013 for 
a net total consideration of £1.469m, 
satisfied in cash. Following an assessment 
of the fair value of the assets and liabilities 
at the acquisition date, goodwill arising on 
this acquisition amounted to £166.3m.

In the period following acquisition,  
Stansted contributed £18.4m of revenue 
to the Group, £5.2m of EBITDA and an 
operating loss of £0.6m after the impact  
of depreciation on fair value adjustments.

PROPERTy 

The Property division manages the 
investment portfolio comprising offices, 
hotels and cargo properties, and is also 
responsible for the Airport City project. 

The decrease in revenue in the year is 
primarily the result of the disposal of  
a developed property in the prior year. 
Adjusting for this item, Property Income 
has increased by £1.1m reflecting high 
yields and active tenant management. 
During the year, the Air Cargo Centre 
at East Midlands Airport was disposed 
of generating £2.8m of cash proceeds. 
In early 2012-13, Travelodge entered 
a Company Voluntary Agreement, as a 
result, the property at Manchester Airport 
suffered reduced rents for the remainder 
of the year. Negotiations are well under 
way to secure a new tenant at this site at 
more market based yields for the Group.

EBITDA from the property business, has 
increased by £1.3m (6.5%), as a result of 
proactive management and continued high 
levels of occupancy across the portfolio. 

CASH FLOW AND  
FINANCING AND INTEREST

Cash generated from operations before 
significant items has increased by £18.2m 
to £148.6m, (14.6%), allowing the Group 
to continue to invest in infrastructure and 
property development opportunities.

In February 2013, the Group put in place 
new committed bank facilities of £1.2bn, 
which comprise a £900m syndicated 
five year term loan facility maturing in 
February 2018 and a £300m revolving 
credit facility. These facilities have been 
used in the acquisition of Stansted and to 
provide financing requirements to support 
future growth strategies to increase 
shareholder value. 

Net Debt increased by £718.7m to 
£1,117.4m primarily due to drawing new 
financing to fund the acquisition of Stansted 
Airport as well as to support investment in 
capital projects and property development.

As at 31 March 2013, M.A.G had 
£1,456.9m (2012: £525.8m) of 
committed facilities and a net debt 
position of £1,117.4m (2012: £398.7m). 
M.A.G had significant financial facilities 
headroom of £305m at the year-end. 
Based on the Board approved three-year 
business plan, the Group is forecast to 
have financial headroom in excess of  
£260m for the next twelve months.

M.A.G also has considerable financial 
headroom in its financial bank covenants 
with net debt to EBITDA at 3.8 times  
v’s a lock-up covenant of 6.0 times  
and a proforma 8.1 times interest cover  
v’s lock-up of 2.0 times.

Group net interest payable, before Significant 
Items, increased from £28.6m to £31.1m, 
reflecting the increase in net debt compared 
to the prior year with new financing being in 
place from February 2013.

In order to provide certainty over interest 
costs and in accordance with its Treasury 

policy, the Group has entered into derivative 
financial instruments to hedge exposure to 
interest rate movements over a significant 
proportion of its external borrowings.

Following the restructuring and refinancing 
of the Group, the previous term loan was 
settled. Settlement of this borrowing before 
the contractual maturity date resulted 
in the recognition of a financial liability 
in relation to interest cost. This financial 
liability was embedded into the derivative 
financial instruments entered into to hedge 
the interest exposure of the Group’s new 
borrowings. £2.0m of deferred issue costs 
in relation to the previous financing has also 
been amortised in the period. Both these 
items had no impact on the Group’s cash 
flows in the year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Capital investment of £63.1m includes 
the £9.7m in relation to the new air traffic 
control tower at Manchester Airport, which 
is scheduled to be completed in early 
2013-14. The Group is continuing to invest 
in the upgrade of hold baggage x-ray 
screening at Manchester. Further investment 
is also being made to increase car-parking 
capacity across the Group’s airports.

SUMMARy OF CHANGES IN AGGREGATE PENSION FUND DEFICITS (£M)

Excl Stansted Stansted Total

Deficit as at 31 March 2012  75.2 -  75.2 
Acquisition -  8.7  8.7 
Current and past service cost (4.2)  0.6 (3.6)
Contributions (6.3) (0.8) (7.1)
Other finance expenses  1.6 (0.1)  1.5 
Actuarial loss  4.4 (1.6)  2.8 
Deficit as at 31 March 2013  70.7  6.8  77.5 

GROUP CASH FLOW (£M)

2013 2012 Change %

Cash generated from operations before significant items 148.6  129.7 14.6%
Cash generated from operations after significant items  118.6  125.7 -5.6%
Interest, tax and dividends (65.4) (61.0) 7.2%
Net capital expenditure (63.1) (91.1) -30.7%
New share capital issued 799.6 - 100.0%
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired (1,468.6) - 100.0%
Non-cash movement (38.0)  0.6 0.0%
Increase in net debt (680.7) (25.8) 2531.4%
Net debt  1,117.4  398.7 180.3%

FINANCIAL ANALySIS  
FOR STANSTED AIRPORT1

2013 2012

Passengers (million)  1.3  N/A 
Revenue (£m)  18.4  N/A 
EBITDA (£m)  5.2  N/A 

NOTE:
1 1 month to 31 March 2013.
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RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework covers 
all areas of our activity and 
is embedded in our day-to-
day operations. We recognise 
the importance of ensuring 
that management, our Audit 
Committee and Board have  
a clear and current understanding 
of the key risks we face to  
facilitate not only the effective 
management of those risks  
but also to engender informed,  
risk-based decision making 
which drives the achievement of 
our business objectives. This is 
achieved through a combination 
of a robust risk management 
framework and regular, ongoing 
engagement by management  
and the Executive Committee  
in the risk management agenda.
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to risk, in which colleagues feel they can 
discuss risk issues openly and receive the 
support they need to effectively manage 
or mitigate those risks. This is fostered 
through regular communications with risk 
owners and stakeholders.

Assurance on how effectively we manage 
our key risks is provided to management 
and the Audit Committee through a 
strategic assurance programme which 
is directly underpinned by the corporate 
risk framework. Our aim is to deliver 
comprehensive assurance over the 
Group’s risk profile over a 3-year period.

The acquisition of Stansted marks a step 
change in the Group’s risk profile, and 
significant work has been undertaken 
to develop a clear picture of the new 
risks this presents to the Group, as well 
as integrating the airport’s existing risk 
management framework into the Group’s 
corporate framework.

The table below summarises the key 
strategic and operational risks identified 
during the course of the year, with details 
of our strategies for managing them and 
some of the opportunities they present:

year promotes a continuous process 
of identification, evaluation and 
management of risk. 

With a wide range of change projects in 
progress at all times, there are regularly 
reviewed risk registers in place for each 
one and a defined escalation process 
to ensure that new and emerging 
project risks are visible to the Executive 
Committee, Audit Committee and Board. 
The Risk and Assurance Team co-develop 
risk registers for all major projects to 
ensure consistency and visibility of key 
project risks across the Group.

Our Executive Team, Audit Committee and 
Board receive regular detailed reports on 
the Group’s risk profile, including details of 
new and emerging risks, net risk exposures 
which are outside the Group’s defined 
risk appetite, and details of the actions 
being taken to mitigate or manage those 
exposures. Management are accustomed 
to regular constructive challenge on their 
strategies to manage key risk exposures 
and are held to their target deadlines to 
implement the required controls.

We are committed to promoting a culture 
of openness and transparency in relation 

Operating in a dynamic and rapidly 
evolving environment where change is 
considered ‘Business As Usual’ requires 
a flexible, responsive risk management 
framework which can match the pace of 
change and provide management with 
a clear, accurate and current view of the 
Group’s risk profile at any given point  
in time. 

Our risk management policy and processes 
provide the foundations for this and are 
clearly communicated to management and 
other risk stakeholders within the business. 
A range of risk appetites are defined across 
the various areas of our business, and 
combined with specific risk tolerances this 
promotes a consistent approach to risk 
evaluation aligned to the Group’s stated 
appetite for risk.

A high level of engagement in risk 
management is expected of all members 
of the Senior Leadership Team and 
Executive Committee, and this is promoted 
through a programme of quarterly risk 
review workshops facilitated by the Risk 
and Assurance Team covering all areas  
of the Group’s activity. In addition, regular 
ongoing liaison with management 
and risk stakeholders throughout the 

Risk Mitigation Strategy Opportunities

Breach in security We continually invest in innovative approaches to the management 
of security screening at our airports, with a focus on ensuring our 
customers, partners and colleagues are safe, whilst providing a 
positive customer experience through efficient passenger processing.

We work closely with Government agencies and the Police to  
ensure that our security regime is robust and responsive to new 
security threats.

In addition to a rigorous programme of regulatory inspections and 
audits, we employ both internal and external quality assurance 
specialists to test our security processes and identify opportunities 
 for improvement.

We are relentless in our focus on providing 
the best possible security regime to 
our customers, and as such we take 
every available opportunity to make 
improvements to our processes and the 
customer experience wherever we can.

Threat of a downturn in  
demand due to adverse  
global economic factors

We continually monitor the economic environment through the 
gathering of business intelligence. We apply a prudent approach to 
our business and financial planning processes and fully risk assess 
our business targets. In addition, we have contingency strategies  
in place to enable us to respond to economic shocks.

Conversely, our strategy and business plans 
ensure we have the capacity and capability 
to maximise the benefits to the Group 
should economic conditions improve.

Political and regulatory Regulatory compliance is a priority for the Group, and we have 
dedicated compliance teams to ensure we meet all of our regulatory 
requirements. These are underpinned by rigorous policies and 
procedures and strong relationships with our regulators.

Our Corporate Affairs Team monitor the political landscape and 
ensure we are able to engage and influence the agenda on issues 
directly affecting the Group and its strategy.

M.A.G will continue to actively engage 
with Government agencies and other 
stakeholders to help create a sustainable 
framework for UK aviation.

Recruitment, development 
and retention of talented 
people

Attracting and retaining talent is a priority for the Group, and we 
have clear strategies in place to achieve this. Internally we have  
a process to identify colleagues with high potential and provide  
them with the support they need to develop their careers and achieve 
their potential. In addition, succession plans are in place to enable 
us to respond should colleagues with business critical roles leave  
the Group.

We conduct employee engagement surveys annually and develop 
action plans where potential improvements are identified by  
our people.

Our performance management and reward schemes are continually 
evaluated to ensure they create the right incentives for a high 
performing organisation.

Our Human Resource strategies and 
processes are geared towards identifying 
and taking opportunities to attract and 
retain talent wherever possible.

Failure to effectively 
integrate Stansted and 
deliver associated business 
plan targets

Having successfully added Stansted to the Group, our focus is now 
on ensuring the smooth and successful integration of our businesses. 
We have detailed integration plans and business targets and are 
working closely with the Stansted management team to ensure they 
are delivered.

Our plans are fully risk assessed and supported by a robust audit 
programme to provide assurance to management and the Audit 
Committee on integration and the delivery of our business plan targets.

In Stansted we saw a huge opportunity  
to grow our business, operate in new 
markets and move closer to our vision 
through the acquisition of a high quality, 
successful business.

As we integrate our businesses further over 
the coming years we expect to identify 
many more opportunities to share best 
practice, improve our business and make 
our Group greater than the sum of its parts.

Risk Mitigation Strategy Opportunities

Material sustained 
disruption  
to operations

A wide range of robust multi-agency business continuity, crisis 
management and emergency response plans are regularly tested, 
reviewed and updated to ensure that we are able to respond rapidly 
and effectively to operational disruptions.

Our process of regular testing and review 
provides opportunities for us to continually 
improve and enhance our response 
strategies in the event of disruption to 
operations.

Major Health and Safety  
incident affecting our  
customers or colleagues

We have rigorous Health and Safety policies, procedures and 
processes in place to ensure that Health and Safety risks are 
understood and effectively managed. Our experienced team of 
Health and Safety professionals provide a constant focus on ensuring 
the safety of our customers, partners and colleagues.

The ongoing assessment of Health and Safety risks is embedded 
in daily management routines and monitored by a comprehensive 
committee structure which is in turn overseen by a corporate Health 
and Safety Committee with Board-level oversight.

Our Health and Safety arrangements  
are under continuous review, enabling  
us to identify and implement opportunities 
for improvement as they arise, and  
respond quickly to changes in Health  
and Safety risk.
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CORPORATE 
SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITy

M.A.G’s commitment to 
responsible operations and 
contributing to local, regional 
and national prosperity is long 
standing and is at the core of our 
business. We understand that 
to be a sustainable business we 
must continue to strive to improve 
our performance, maximising the 
social and economic benefits of 
our operations, whilst minimising 
any harm to the environment  
or impact on our neighbours.  
We also recognise that to succeed, 
we must constructively engage 
with our stakeholders and 
continually seek to understand 
what matters most to them. To this 
end, this year we have undertaken 
two initiatives to demonstrate our 
commitment and maintain our 
leadership in this area. 

Firstly, we have revised our 
Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) strategy to ensure our targets 
and objectives are suitable for the 
long-term and secondly we have 
undertaken a materiality review to 
confirm that we understand what 
is important to our stakeholders.

Our success to date in this area, 
has allowed us to reach and 
exceed targets that are under our 
control and we are committed 
to working with the industry and 
our partners to help reduce our 
impacts even further. 

Further information on M.A.G’s 
CSR achievements can be found in 
the 2012-13 CSR report, available 
on www.magworld.co.uk
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which was able to consider the reporting of 
our peers and research the views of a cross 
section of colleagues and some external 
stakeholders. This process helped us to set 
out the most important issues and reflecting 
the perspectives and priorities of our 
stakeholders and our business. The results 
of our review are shown opposite.

Our review confirmed the absolute 
importance of providing a safe and 
secure environment for our customers and 
of providing the best experience when 
travelling from our airports. The priority 
we place on environmental protection 
was also validated through the materiality 
review, confirming the importance of 
directly addressing the environmental 
consequences of our operations, 
particularly noise and climate change. 
We must also continue to contribute to the 
regions we serve by investing in our local 
communities and by supporting economic 
development. We can only achieve these 
aims by continuing to build a strong and 
profitable business.

MANAGING SUSTAINABILITy

At M.A.G, sustainability is a priority at 
every level, with the Board considering 
CSR as a key strategic focus that should 
underpin every aspect of the day to day 
running of our airports in supporting our 
company vision.

To allow open communication  
throughout the business, M.A.G has  
a Corporate Social Responsibility Board, 
which provides independent review and 
allows work in this area to be openly 
scrutinised and challenged, with all 
findings are reported to the Executive 
Committee and Group Board.

Effective programme management is key 
to being successful and all our airports 
are accredited to the International 
Environment Management Standard, 
ISO14001. M.A.G has also, this year, 
been awarded a platinum Big Tick, the 
highest possible ranking, in the Business  
in the Community’s Corporate 
Responsibility Index. 

OUR STAKEHOLDERS

We believe that effective communication 
with our stakeholders is essential to 
ensuring that we behave as a responsible 
business, neighbour and corporate citizen.

It is important that we play our part in 
contributing to the public policy debate 
surrounding aviation and we are an active 
contributor to the work of a range of 
industry and trade associations. 

In 2012-13, we undertook a systematic 
review of the issues that we face, so that 
we can be sure that our strategy and 
reporting continue to focus on those 
issues which are most material to our 
business. To ensure complete objectivity 
we commissioned an independent agency, 

Issues on our radar

M.A.G

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Climate change,  
carbon emissions and energy

Noise abatement

Ethics and compliance

Air qualityLocal sourcing/hiring

Investing in community

Customer service and satisfaction

Regulatory compliance

Employee reward and recognition

Construction and buildings

Land use and biodiversity

Surface access and connectivity

Impacts on our neighbours

Occupational health and safety

Employee engagement

Local economic development

Governance

Customer safety and security

Business development and growth

Profitability

Public policy engagement

Recruiting talent

Training and development

Procurement and supplier management

Employee 
volunteering

Waste and recycling

Hazardous substances

Diversity and inclusion

Water management

HIGH IMPORTANCE TO M.A.G VERY HIGH

OUR BUSINESS OUR PEOPLE OUR CUSTOMERS OUR COMMUNITIES OUR ENVIRONMENT FAST RISERS

H
IG

H
IM

PO
RT

A
N

C
E 

TO
 S

TA
KE

H
O

LD
ER

S
VE

RY
 H

IG
H

Issues on our radar

M.A.G

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Climate change,  
carbon emissions and energy

Noise abatement

Ethics and compliance

Air qualityLocal sourcing/hiring

Investing in community

Customer service and satisfaction

Regulatory compliance

Employee reward and recognition

Construction and buildings

Land use and biodiversity

Surface access and connectivity

Impacts on our neighbours

Occupational health and safety

Employee engagement

Local economic development

Governance

Customer safety and security

Business development and growth

Profitability

Public policy engagement

Recruiting talent

Training and development

Procurement and supplier management

Employee 
volunteering

Waste and recycling

Hazardous substances

Diversity and inclusion

Water management

HIGH IMPORTANCE TO M.A.G VERY HIGH

OUR BUSINESS OUR PEOPLE OUR CUSTOMERS OUR COMMUNITIES OUR ENVIRONMENT FAST RISERS

H
IG

H
IM

PO
RT

A
N

C
E 

TO
 S

TA
KE

H
O

LD
ER

S
VE

RY
 H

IG
H

OUR ENVIRONMENT
We will make best use of natural 
resources and minimise the 
environmental impact of our 
operations.

Colleagues
Our

Communities
Our

Environment
Our

Colleagues
Our

Environment
Our

Communities
Our

Business
Our

Business
Our

OUR COLLEAGUES
We seek to create a healthy 
workplace, which attracts 
committed colleagues and 
we support and develop them 
throughout their careers with us 
so that they may maximise their 
contribution to our business.

Colleagues
Our

Communities
Our

Environment
Our

Colleagues
Our

Environment
Our

Communities
Our

Business
Our

Business
Our

OUR COMMUNITy
By building enduring relationships 
with our local communities, we will 
seek to understand the issues that 
are important to them, to understand 
how our operations affect them 
and to use our combined skills and 
resources to work together for our 
mutual benefit.
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Our

Colleagues
Our

Environment
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Our
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Our

OUR BUSINESS
We aim to maximise our economic 
contribution, whilst always 
maintaining a fair and respectful 
relationship with our supply chain 
and business partners.

Colleagues
Our

Communities
Our

Environment
Our

Colleagues
Our

Environment
Our

Communities
Our

Business
Our

Business
Our

OUR OBjECTIVES 

Customers travelling from 
East Midlands Airport

32
M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13

33

magworld.co.uk

M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy



Due to the prolonged period of snow 
that the UK experienced over the winter 
of 2012-13, the airports had to maintain 
correct disposal of de-icer. During the 
reporting period, 1,513 cubic metres of 
de-icer was used. 

Manchester Airport is currently working 
with Lancaster University to support a 
three year project that will look at how 
environmental impacts from aircraft 
and airfield pavement de-icing can be 
reduced. The study will involve analysing 
when and how the de-icing products are 
used, to investigate if changes can be 
made to reduce the fluid usage without 
compromising on safety. The study will 
also look at ways in which de-icing fluids 
might be recycled. 

Waste Management
Managing waste on an airport site is a 
complex activity, due to the wide ranging 
materials that come from many different 
sources; however we have a proven track 
record in diverting waste from landfill. In 
2012-13 Bournemouth Airport diverted 
50% of waste, Manchester Airport 71% 
and East Midlands Airport 86%.

At every M.A.G airport, we work closely 
with our business partners to influence 
how they manage waste and recycling. 
We provide training and raise awareness 
with our partners on waste minimisation 
and recycling, induction training on 
segregation and using waste facilities to 
maximise the amount of waste that can be 
segregated and diverted from landfill. 

GROUND TRANSPORT

M.A.G is dedicated to ensuring that our 
airports are well connected to the regions 
that we serve and we take an active role in 
promoting environmentally sound travel 
options to our passengers and all staff 
members based on our sites. Each airport has 
a surface access strategy, which allows us to 
manage and seek the best options for public 
transport and maximising sustainability. 

Upgrading transport options at all airports 
is something that M.A.G is committed to. 
Some of our on-going projects include:

Contribution towards the construction  ■

of a £1.4 billion project to upgrade and 
extend the Metrolink at Manchester Airport, 
which is due to be completed in 2016. The 
extended Metrolink will create and improve 
on links to and from the airport site. 

An annual Travel to Work survey at East  ■

Midlands Airport, in order to monitor 
progress made against committed 
targets to improve sustainable modal 
share. The results showed the sustainable 
modal share split as; 9.4% bus use, 
13.9% car share and 1.6% cycling.

M.A.G strives to be a responsible 
and considerate neighbour, carefully 
considering the needs of our communities, 
whilst positively contributing to regional 
economic development.

We want to target the benefits of 
employment locally and support the 
education of the workforce of the future. 
Relationships with our local communities 
are two-way and constructive, We seek 
to understand what matters most and to 
direct our efforts accordingly.

INVESTING IN OUR COMMUNITIES

M.A.G’s approach to being a responsible 
business is to look further than just 
minimising the impact from our operations 
on those who live in the surrounding 
areas. For us, it’s about investing in 
our communities by providing funding, 
education, time and resource to important 
projects, schools and local groups. 

Making sure we are visible in our 
communities is also important to us 
and promote two way communications 
with this important stakeholder group. 

OUR COMMUNITy 
It is important that we actively reduce 
our impact on the environment, whilst 
balancing our operation as a commercial 
airport. In August 2012, the Group 
achieved our challenging target of carbon 
neutral ground operations at both East 
Midlands and Bournemouth Airports. We 
know however, that the hard work does 
not stop here, and we are now working 
hard to achieve carbon neutral ground 
operations at Manchester Airport by 2015 
and to share our knowledge and expertise 
with our industry partners. 

We believe that successful environmental 
management has to incorporate every 
area and that’s why, in addition to 
reducing carbon emissions, we work hard 
to manage and control our impacts on 
water, waste, ecology and land use. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 

M.A.G’s sustainability strategy is aimed  
at reducing the effects that our operations 
have on the environment. The main focus  
is upon reducing carbon emissions, 
reducing energy usage and creating 
renewable options. 

The Group believes in sharing best practice 
across all sites and works hard as one 
team to achieve the best results. We are 
proud to be actively purchasing 100% 
renewable electricity for Manchester, East 
Midlands and Bournemouth Airports and in 
addition to all airports being certified to the 
ISO14001 standard; all our airports have 
achieved the Carbon Trust Standard too. 

Environmental achievements from the 
period include:

A number of energy efficient lighting  ■

projects at Manchester Airport, 
totalling a saving of 5,101,122 kWh, 

adding to achieving the 25% energy 
reduction target by 2015.

Manchester Airport has once again  ■

been re-accredited to Level 3 
(Optimisation) in the Airport Carbon 
Accreditation scheme. 

A Collaborative Environmental  ■

Management Group, including 
Manchester Airport with the aim of 
creating procedures to improve CO2 
emissions performance with a variety 
of partners within the aviation industry. 

Bournemouth Airport has implemented  ■

a number of energy saving projects, 
such as the replacement of car 
park lighting with LED lighting and 
replacement of the heating in the 
headquarters building. During  
2012-13, Bournemouth Airport has 
saved 246,348 kWh in energy. 

A review of the surface water system  ■

contingencies for major spillages at 
East Midlands Airport.

Completion of a travel to work survey,  ■

considering both airport and third 
party staff at East Midlands Airport. 

OUR ENVIRONMENT 

Energy efficient lighting at Manchester Airport

Managing our impact on the quality of 
water and the amount of waste diverted 
from land fill is extremely important to 
M.A.G. We are committed to reducing 
water consumption by reducing 
wastage and promoting effective water 
management. Our ultimate goal for waste 
is to send zero waste to landfill. 

M.A.G is already the leading airport group 
in the UK for waste diverted from landfill, 
as a result of our commitments to produce 
less waste, increase the amount of waste 
diverted from landfill and maximise the 
source segregation of waste on-site. 

Local water quality
The majority of M.A.G’s water is from 
mains supply for use on-site. During  
2012-13, M.A.G consumed 757,035 
cubic meters of mains water and 
harvested 430 cubic meters of rainwater 
at East Midlands Airport. We are 
heavily controlled and regulated by the 
Environment Agency and we actively 
monitor our own and our tenant’s 
operations closely and issue guidance to 
ensure that we stay within the correct limits.  

WATER AND WASTE

Swan Rivers Pond, East Midlands Airport

Manchester’s Metrolink light rail network

‘Autumn Leaves’ programme in action where 
elderly guests enjoyed a three course lunch
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World Book Day, where colleagues from  ■

across the Group visited schools to read 
to them. The books that were used were 
also left with the schools as a donation. 

Colleagues from Bournemouth Airport  ■

supported schools in the local areas by 
attending a number of career days and 
events to discuss student’s work and 
aspirations and educate them on the 
careers available through the airport site.

During 2012-13, East Midlands Airport  ■

has continued to invest time, funding 
and resource into the dedicated 
on-site education centre, seeing the 
most successful year to date. A total 
of 3,411 young people visited the 
Aerozone this year.

COLLEAGUE VOLUNTEERING IN 
OUR COMMUNITIES

At M.A.G we have a talented team.  
We believe that offering their skills, time 
and expertise on a voluntary basis to local 

projects and activities provides invaluable 
support to our local communities and  
a great development opportunity for  
our people. 

During 2012-13, over 6,336 hours were 
volunteered by M.A.G colleagues, a 28% 
increase on the previous year. 

At Bournemouth Airport, 148 hours were 
recorded by colleagues on various projects. 
These include school governor duties, 
tree clearance from the neighbouring 
heathland and visiting a local school’s 
career day to take part in a discussion 
about job opportunities at the airport.

A total of 5,556 hours were recorded from 
colleagues taking part in volunteering 
activities in Manchester. When compared 
to 2011-12, this was a 32% increase 
and a credit to the schemes effectiveness 
and the willingness of the staff members 
involved. Volunteering opportunities range 
from being reading mentors to taking part 
in community projects.

During the past year at East Midlands 
Airport, a huge effort was realised, as 
the target of 20% of all staff members 
was achieved. 632 hours of volunteering 
was complete by 106 colleagues in 
activities ranging from mock interviews in 
secondary schools to tree felling in a local 
country park. 

REDUCING OUR IMPACT

We know that to truly be a responsible and 
considerate neighbour we must look at the 
areas that our communities tell us has the 
greatest impact on their lives. To this end, 
we take a very active role along with our 
partners in reducing and controlling noise 
and managing air quality. 

World Book Day school visit

Reducing operational noise
We understand that the noise caused by 
aircraft can be obtrusive for local residents 
and our airports and airline partners are 
continually investing in quieter aircraft 
and mitigation schemes. We take this 
issue very seriously. Over many years we 
have introduced comprehensive measures 
to minimise the impact of noise and to 
ensure strict limits are upheld. 

Monitoring and calculating noise 
footprints is a key part of our statutory 
noise action plans, which are statutory 
reports that are in place at each airport. 
We believe that local noise action plans 
and the supporting consultation and 
engagement that we undertake provides 
a valuable opportunity to ensure that our 
programmes are subject to regular review 
and stakeholder dialogue.

We measure the impact of aircraft 
noise at least annually around airports 
by preparing daytime and night noise 
footprints, which provide information on 
the noise levels from aircraft activity and 
display the areas affected. 

This year’s complaints across our airports 
have reduced once again. We continue 
to engage with communities, which are 
impacted by noise and work hard, along 
with our partners to reduce noise and to 
share data and reports. 

It is extremely important that local people 
have access to the data that we produce; 
therefore we publish monitoring results on 
our airport websites. At Bournemouth and 
East Midlands Airports, we use WebTrak, 
a system that enables any visitor to our 
website to replay from radar recordings 
the track flown by aircraft operating to and 
from our airports. 

OUR COMMUNITy FUNDS

Our airports all operate independently 
managed Community Funds, which are 
in place to help local groups and charities 
with the aim of benefitting local residents 
and allowing small groups to expand  
their offering. 

In 2012-13, Manchester Airport donated 
£100,000 to the fund and a further  
£9,450 was collected through aircraft fines. 
At East Midlands Airport the airport donated 
£50,000 to its fund with a further £4,200 
being added from aircraft fines.

During 2012-13, over £173,000 was 
donated to groups in the surrounding 
areas of our airports, bringing assistance 
and help to 160 groups. Examples include; 
£1,000 donated by Manchester Airport to 
H3 Helping the Homeless into Housing, 
which went towards a child friendly garden 
project, £1,000 donated by East Midlands 
Airport for footpath signage for the 
Melbourne Footpath Groups and £1,974 
donated by Bournemouth Airport to the 
Dorset Wildlife Trust for new information 
boards around Sopley Common.

In total during the year, the Manchester 
Airport team has met with the 121 elected 
representatives, 205 individuals groups 
and 6,051 local people across a variety 
of meetings. New meetings and events 
for 2012-13 include; a new series of 
regular meetings with faith leaders, in 
partnership with the Airport’s Chaplaincy 
and the ‘Autumn Leaves’ programme, 
where over the course of three events, 20 
colleagues hosted 300 elderly people in 
Wythenshawe, where the guests enjoyed 
a three course lunch, with entertainment 
by the Airport choir and a local amateur 
dramatic group. 

SUPPORTING ARTS AND CULTURE 
IN OUR REGIONS

M.A.G is a key arts sponsor in the UK 
and we are committed to supporting this 
important area. Our programme has been 
established for 24 years and we have 
invested over £400,000 in arts and culture 
initiatives. Our objective is to promote arts, 
create and sustain jobs, and expand the 
vibrant cultural life of our local areas as 
well as shaping economic development 
of the regions with consequential 
commercial upside for the Group.

Major arts and culture events and groups 
that we supported in 2012-13 were:

The Lowry ■

Manchester International Festival ■

Royal Exchange ■

Hallé Orchestra. ■

Sopley Common information boards 
donated by Bournemouth Airport

INVESTING IN EDUCATION

M.A.G believes that investing in education 
and offering opportunities to schools, 
colleges, community groups and adult 
education can help us to become a truly 
sustainable organisation, which supports 
the future workforce.

Manchester Airport this year has  ■

successfully supported many schools 
across the region and launched 
some particularly innovative projects. 
Recent examples include: Dragons 
Den, in which 18 schools took part in 
creating an item for sale at a market 
in Manchester for £5 that would be 
suitable for a family member, raising a 
total of £9,000 for local hospices. 

The creation of an iBook, called  ■

‘Manchester Airport a Flying Visit’, 
which educates the reader on the 
Airports’ history.

Bring Your Child to Work Day, where  ■

our airports create a specific learning 
programme, which offers a number of 
staff member’s children an education 
and interactive day, learning about the 
airport and the roles that are available.

Bring your child to work day at East Midlands Airport
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HEALTH AND SAFETy 

M.A.G has a robust health and safety 
strategy in place to ensure that our 
colleagues are protected and that we 
continue to seek to develop the safest 
possible standard. Health and safety 
risk assessment is embedded into 
daily management routines and safety 
performance is monitored by specific 
committees that are in turn overseen  
by a corporate Health and Safety 
Committee with Board-level oversight.

During the past year, each airport has 
continued to progress with their individual 
Safety Improvement Plans and this year, 
we are proud to have achieved the 
British Standard for health and safety 
accreditation, OHSAS 18001. The 
accreditation gives an assurance of the 
quality of the Safety Management System 
and its relevance to the organisation.  
To achieve this internationally recognised 
standard, an external audit of our policy 
and 39 other aspects of safety across  
the organisation.

Carrying out safety checks on the apron

DIVERSITy AND EQUALITy

Treating all colleagues fairly and equally 
is taken very seriously across all M.A.G 
airports. With a strict Dignity at Work policy 
in place, every colleague is encouraged to 
report any unacceptable behaviour and 
managers and supervisors are responsible 
for making sure that the policy is put into 
action and to investigate any such report. 
Our aim is to ensure that all colleagues 
are able to work and develop free from 
discrimination and harassment. 

During 2012-13, M.A.G dealt with  
only one case of discrimination at work. 
This case was addressed in line with 
company policy and has now been 
closed. We believe that the success in 
reducing the amount of cases over the 
past three years has been a direct result 
of improved communication and direct 
engagement with colleagues and line 
managers. We are committed to tackling 
incidents of inappropriate behaviour 
swiftly and decisively to enable equality  
in the workplace.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

M.A.G has a well developed training 
programme in place, helping to retain our 
current colleagues, build their capability 
and attract new people at every level of 
our organisation. It’s important to us to 
recognise the variety of roles at the airport 
and offer courses to suit each area of the 
business, including the essential training 
provided to operational colleagues, such 
as Fire and Rescue, security and wildlife 
control, in areas, such as airside driving 
and emergency planning training.

The online learning management tool 
introduced in 2011 has proved to be 
a great success at M.A.G, making 

training more accessible to all colleagues. 
During the past year, 1,611 employees 
have undertaken 16,940 hours of web 
based training. New for 2012-13 is an 
environment training module, which is 
aimed at refresher training for existing staff 
and an induction to the environmental 
management system for new staff 
members. The module looks specifically 
at our ISO14001 Environmental 
Management System, environmental risks, 
environmental management and how 
colleagues can contribute. 

In addition to the focus on training,  
all colleagues at M.A.G undertake  
an annual performance review, known  
as the ‘Colleague Achievement Review’.  
This year, 962 of employees recorded  
their review using an online system,  
with the remaining colleagues continued 
using the paper based system.

RECRUITING OUR WORKFORCE

Our airports together employ over 29,000 
people on-site in a variety of roles as well 
as seeking right people, we like to develop 
colleagues internally to allow them to grow 
and develop within our business. 

During 2012-13, M.A.G developed  
a new recruitment website, which gives 
prospective colleagues an insight into 
M.A.G and the roles that are on offer.  
The site was developed with the help of 
current colleagues, in the form of videos 
and information on their departments 
within the airport. 

At Manchester Airport, the airport 
also runs an Airport Academy, an 
employment and training programme 
helping unemployed people living locally 

To successfully manage noise, we require 
our partners to use techniques such as use 
preferred noise routes and the continuous 
descent approach. We also impose 
maximum noise limits and where these 
limits are not adhered to we impose fines, 
with the monies raised being donated to 
the airport’s Community Fund. 

Managing Air Quality 
In common with other forms of transport, 
including cars and lorries, airport 
operations produce emissions that can 
affect local air quality. Measuring and 
managing air quality is a complex and  
is an essential part of our environment 
and community strategies. We know  
that this is an important issue for our  
local communities, our colleagues and  
the environment. 

Air quality is monitored at all of our 
airports and to provide reassurance 
to the local community East Midlands 
and Manchester Airports have installed 
continuous air quality monitoring 
equipment. At Manchester Airport, there  
is an air quality monitoring site, which 

forms part of the National Air Quality 
Monitoring Network. 

In addition to continual monitoring of 
air quality and vehicle emissions, East 
Midlands Airport has this year embarked 
on a further monitoring exercise to study the 
effect of odours. The study which involves 
the local community feeding back directly 
to the airport through a questionnaire will 
take place over a 12 month period.

COMPLAINTS ABOUT NOISE 

Airport 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Manchester Airport 1,282 1,084 739 794
East Midlands Airport 1,064 800 600 425
Bournemouth Airport Not reported Not reported 1,013 1,159

Noise monitoring at Manchester Airport

M.A.G recognises that its people are vital 
to successfully achieve our business, and as 
a large employer in every region we serve, 
we aspire to attract ambitious people, who 
are forward thinking and creative. 

Through the knowledge, experience and 
professionalism of our people, we are 
confident that we will build trust in our 
operations and that we will achieve our 
vision to become the premier airport 
management and services company. 

Acquiring Stansted Airport has allowed the 
organisation to build greater capability 
and to assimilate a workforce with 
considerable experience and expertise. 
and we are looking forward to integrating 
our new colleagues fully within M.A.G. 
Our aim is to think and act as one team 
across multiple sites, demonstrating 
mutual trust and respect and sharing  
in the success of our business. 

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE

Investment in our people is vital to our 
business success and to achieving our 
strategy and objectives. We have over 
2,700 colleagues across our sites and  
our airports offer many different job 
roles. We strive to offer our people real 
opportunities and to help to develop their 
skills so that they may achieve their goals 
and aspirations. 

During 2012-13, M.A.G was proud to 
hold the Investors in People accreditation, 
a standard for businesses that are 
committed to supporting and developing 
their colleagues and this commitment 
to our colleagues is the foundation of 
our people strategy and targets for the 
medium and long-term. 

OUR PEOPLE 
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M.A.G’s performance for long-term objectives and short-term targets for environmental and social performance at all airports are 
detailed in the below table. 

KEy PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Area Indicator Calendar or 
financial year

Airports 2009 or 
2009/10

2010 or 
2010/11

2011 or 
2011/12

2012 or  
2012/13 

Target

Environmental and Community Engagement

Energy and 
fuel use A, B

Total net CO2 
emissions

Calendar ALL 77,169 74,4142 33,108 27,643 2012: 0 (EMA1, 
BOH1, HUY1)

2015: 0 (MAN1)

Water Total mains water  
used (m3)

Financial All 866,808 907,779 843,405 757,035

Samples within surface 
water discharge 

consent limits

Calendar MAN1

EMA1

BOH1

100%
96%

100%

95%
100%
100%

97%
100%
100%

96.40%
95%

100%

All years: 100%

Samples within effluent 
discharge consent 

limits

Calendar MAN1

EMA1

BOH1

100%
100%

Not reported

97.50%
100%

Not reported

100%
100%
100%

100%
66%

100%

All years: 100%

M.A.G now has control of all security 
services across the Group and is able 
to control the levels of customer service 
and easily assess how the provision can 
be improved. Due to a terminal re-
development at East Midlands Airport, 
the Group is able to look at ways in 
which the service can be made more 
efficient, by using more technology, such 
as long lanes. These lanes are currently in 
operation at Manchester Airport and give 
the passenger more time to prepare their 
belongings, meaning a faster and more 
efficient service. The search area is also 
being extended, which will create more 
space and natural light to the area.

Over the past year, we have continued to 
invest heavily in training for our people, 
ensuring that the highest levels of service 
can be delivered. Every security colleague at 
M.A.G attends training courses to maintain 
standards of professionalism and knowledge 
of the latest security developments. 

We remain in close cooperation with 
government agencies and the police to 
ensure that our security regime is responsive 
to changes in external threats. All our 
airports have the appropriate security 
procedures to protect our passengers and 
colleagues, and are fully compliant with  
the Government’s security requirements.

CUSTOMER FEEDBACK

We have many ways in which passengers 
can feedback to us and we take each 
piece of feedback that we receive seriously. 
In addition to customer feedback sheets 
that are placed in our terminals, we also 
use the Airport Service Quality (ASQ) 
Survey, which is the world’s leading 
airport customer satisfaction benchmark 
programme. The programme provides 
the industry standard for passenger 
satisfaction data and is conducted by 

Airports Council International (ACI).  
The data collected helps airports to 
benchmark their customer satisfaction 
results against other European airports  
of a similar size. 

M.A.G’s objective is to ensure that 
customer satisfaction levels are the  
highest possible and we aim to achieve 
top quartile ranking for each airport 
in their respective benchmark groups. 
The survey focuses on four areas that 
are important to customers, cleanliness, 
ambience, courtesy and helpfulness of 
staff and overall satisfaction. M.A.G’s 
approach to customer service is to 
ensure that every aspect of the customer 
journey is the best it can possibly be and 
we use the survey as the foundation for 
making the right changes to the customer 
experience in our airports.

to prepare for interviews with airport 
employers through a tailored pre-
employment training course. 

During 2012-13, Manchester Airport 
also successfully secured an Employer 
Ownership of Skills grant for £1.3m, 
which will be used to fund employability 
projects over the next two years. The grant 
will strengthen the community strategy 
and enhance the offering through the 
Airport Academy, providing training for 
M.A.G colleagues and service partner staff 
members. In addition, it is planned that 
the education web site will be improved. 

The Airport Academy at Manchester Airport 
has proven to be a great success and we 
are pleased to report that the model has 
now been replicated at East Midlands 
Airport, to create a dedicated Airport 
Academy for the East Midlands region.

Careers at M.A.G

East Midlands Airport is this year embarking 
upon a £12 million re-development of the 
terminal building that will enhance the retail 
offering, make the customer journey easier 
to navigate and increase the size of the 
security search area. 

In addition to bringing the security function 
at Bournemouth and East Midlands 
Airports in-house last year, the Group has 
also decided to in-source the car parking 
function at East Midlands Airport. Using the 
expertise of the staff at Manchester Airport, 
where the function already sits within the 
group, it will allow greater control over 
the service so that we can provide a better 
service to our passengers. 

BEING SAFE AND SECURE

Safety and Security underpins M.A.G’s 
business strategy, it is the foundation of 
our operation and it is our number one 
priority. During the past year, the Group 
has continued to integrate the security 
provision at both Bournemouth and East 
Midlands Airports, as they were brought 
in-house in 2012-13. 

Our vision is clear; M.A.G aspires to 
be ‘the premier airport management 
and services company’. We know this 
can only be accomplished by driving 
and implementing efficient systems 
that provide excellent customer service, 
whilst maintaining the highest safety and 
security standards. We are committed to 
continually evaluating our customer service 
offering and improving this wherever 
necessary for the 42 million passengers 
that travel through our airports.

CUSTOMER SERVICE

We pride ourselves on excellent customer 
service for all our customers groups, 
including the travelling public, airlines and 
tour operators and business partners. We 
know that we must aim high to excite our 
current customers and continue to attract 
new customers. 

Throughout the passenger journey 
through our terminals, we know that we 
do not control all touch points where our 
passengers will interact with staff members, 
however this does not stop us from having 
clear objectives and working hard to 
maintain a high level of customer service. 
We work closely with our partner companies 
to ensure that they are aware of our vision 
and to help them to develop the standards 
that we instil on our own colleagues. 

Our vision for our passengers is that 
we want to have clean, safe, efficient 
terminals and operations that allow them 
to progress through their journey easily. 
We want to provide excellent catering and 
retail and ensure that the same level of 
customer service is experienced once they 
board their aircraft. 

East Midlands Airport artists impression

OUR CUSTOMERS 
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KEy PERFORMANCE INDICATORS continued

Environmental and Community Engagement continued

Waste Total waste (tonnes) Financial MAN1

EMA1

BOH1

7,331  
(MAN1 and 
EMA1 only)

7,035  
(MAN1 and 
EMA1 only)

7,469 7,935
588
140

Waste recycled/
recovered

Financial 
Calendar
Financial

MAN1 
EMA1

BOH1

21%
43%

Not reported

43%
88%

Not reported

62%
88%
40%

71.30%
86%
50%

2015: 100%

Noise Departures within 
preferred noise routes

Calendar MAN1

EMA1
98%
98%

97%
99%

98%
98%

97%
98%

Flights using 
continuous descent 

approach (MAN1 
22:00 – 06:00)2

Calendar MAN1

EMA1
78%
87%

77%
86%

71%
90%

86%
93%

All years: 80%

Air Quality Total breaches of air 
quality limits

Calendar MAN1

EMA1
0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

All years: 0

Community 
Engagement

Total community 
investment through 

Community Funds (£)

Financial All 244,211 217,750 180,843 BOH1 – £11,792.71
EMA1 – £52,189

MAN1 – £109,378

Employee volunteering 
hours

Financial MAN1

EMA1

BOH1

2,268  
(MAN1 and 
EMA1 only)

3,755  
(MAN1 and 
EMA1 only)

4,131 EMA1 – 632 hours
MAN1 – 5556 hours

BOH1 – 148 hours

3,785 (MAN1 
target for 2011-

12)

Colleague Engagement

Health, safety 
and security

RIDDOR3 reportable 
accidents

Financial All 34 33 28 27

Customer Satisfaction

Customer 
satisfaction

Overall ASQ rankings 
(in relevant benchmark 

group)

Calendar MAN1

EMA1

BOH1

3.89
3.95
3.59

3.94
3.95
4.24

3.98
3.95
4.03

3.89
4.03
4.02

2013: Upper 
quartile position 

in relevant 
benchmark 

group for each 
airport.

NOTES:
1 MAN = Manchester, EMA = East Midlands, BOH = Bournemouth, HUY = Humberside.
2 The figures provided for Manchester Airport are for night flights (22:00–06:00). The figures provided for East Midlands Airport are for all flights, not just the night-time period.
3 RIDDOR stands for the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations.
4  The 2012-13 colleague engagement score was unavailable at the time of going print, due to the acquisition of Stansted Airport; therefore the overall figures had not been calculated.
A Since our commitment to carbon neutrality was made, the voluntary carbon reporting guidelines published by DEFRA have been revised. DEFRA’s long-standing advice that 

electricity from renewable sources such as wind and solar should be assumed to give rise to zero CO2 emissions has changed. This change creates a significant negative impact 
on our business case for investment in renewable/zero carbon technology, eliminating the incentive to purchase renewable electricity at a premium. We believe that generating 
and purchasing renewable electricity can make an important contribution to reducing our CO2 emissions and that industry can play an important part in stimulating the generation 
of the UK renewables industry. For this reason we are reporting our carbon emissions this year against our commitment as we originally set it out. Excluding the benefit of electricity 
purchased from renewable sources would have increased M.A.G’s emissions by 82,118 tonnes in 2012-13. 

B The data above shows M.A.G’s total CO2 emissions as covered by our Carbon Neutral Commitment. This includes Scope 1 (oil, gas, and vehicle fuel), Scope 2 (electricity) and 
some Scope 3 (electricity, heating oil and fuel supplied to third-party tenants). The May 2012 DEFRA Emission Factors were used to calculate the 2011 footprint.

Area Indicator Calendar or 
financial year

Airports 2009 or 
2009/10

2010 or 
2010/11

2011 or 
2011/12

2012 or  
2012/13 

Target
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This corporate governance statement forms part of and should be read in conjunction with the Directors’ report set out on page 56.

During the year the Group underwent a restructuring. As a result Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, incorporated on 9 January 
2013, became the ultimate parent company of The Manchester Airport Group plc on 15 January 2013.

The Group is committed to high standards of corporate governance and as a result has voluntarily adopted relevant sections of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2010 (‘the Code’). This statement sets out how the 
Group has complied with the relevant sections of the Code throughout the year, both before and after changes in its structure.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The names of the Directors who served on the Board during the year and their biographical details are set out on page 50. The Non-
Executive Directors contribute extensive knowledge and experience. Their role is also to bring independent and objective judgement to 
the Board and committees of the Board as the case may be. 

The Board meets formally at least ten times a year and also on additional occasions to consider specific business matters. Arrangements 
are in place for the Chairman to meet with the Non-Executive Directors without the executive Directors being present, such meetings are 
held as and when required. 

Directors’ attendance at Board and committee meetings is set out below:
GOVERNANCE SUMMARy

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for delivery of Group performance against Shareholders’ objectives and is responsible for 
developing and setting the strategic direction of the Group. The Board has adopted a formal schedule of matters that are reserved to 
it for decision-making. At each meeting the Board considers a series of regular reports covering finance, commercial and operational 
matters and health and safety for the Group and a report from the Group Chief Executive. Directors receive timely and accurate 
information that allows them to discharge their duties effectively. The Board has also established a number of committees with specific 
delegated authority; more information on the membership and the terms of reference of these committees is provided later in this report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined. The Chairman is responsible for the working of 
the Board and provides leadership, ensuring that it delivers effectively on its accountabilities. The day-to-day management of the Group 
and the delivery of Group financial and operational objectives is the responsibility of the Group Chief Executive who is supported by the 
Group Chief Financial Officer, Group Chief Commercial Officer and Group Chief Operations Officer. 

BOARD BALANCE AND INDEPENDENCE

The Board comprises the Chairman, three Executive Directors and six Non-Executive Directors. It is considered that the size of the Board 
is sufficient for the requirements of the business and that there is an appropriate balance of Non-Executive and Executive Directors on 
the Board. 

The Board considers that all the Non-Executive Directors are independent both in character and judgement. The Group meets the 
requirement of the Code that at least half the Board comprises independent Directors. The Chairman was deemed independent for the 
purposes of the Code at the time of his appointment. 

The Board has concluded that since the roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive are not held by the same person and since 
there are only a small number of shareholders thus facilitating communication between the Group and its owners, a Senior Independent 
Director is not necessary. The prior approval of the shareholders is required in respect of all Board appointments. Non-Executive 
Directors are appointed for periods of up to three years.

DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS Fy 2013

Board Audit Committee Remuneration and  
Review Committee

Nominations 
Committee

The Manchester Airport Group plc 13 3 3 2

Manchester Airports Holdings Limited 1 1 - 1

Total number of meetings in 2012-13 14 4 3 3

Number of meetings attended in 2012-13

Non-Executive Directors

Mike Davies 14 N/A N/A 3

Stuart Chambers1 12 2 2 1

David Goddard1 10 N/A N/A N/A

Michael Hancox1 12 3 N/A 2

Vanda Murray 13 4 N/A 3

David Partridge1 10 N/A 1 2

Angela Spindler 13 N/A 3 3

James Wallace 14 4 N/A 3

Bernard Priest1 12 N/A N/A 2

Kieran Quinn2 10 - N/A 2

Richard Leese2 1 N/A N/A 1

Christian Seymour2 1 N/A N/A 1

Manoj Mehta2 1 1 N/A 1

Board Audit Committee Remuneration and  
Review Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Executive Directors

Charlie Cornish 14 N/A N/A N/A

Ken O'Toole 14 N/A N/A N/A

Neil Thompson 13 N/A N/A N/A

NOTES:
1 Stuart Chambers, David Goddard, Michael Hancox, Bernard Priest and David Partridge resigned on 28 February 2013 from the Board of The Manchester Airport Group plc.
2 Richard Leese, Kieran Quinn, Christian Seymour and Manoj Mehta were appointed to the Board of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited on 28 February 2013.
N/A in the table above denotes that the Director is not a member of that committee.
N.B. Unless otherwise disclosed in the Directors’ Report, page 56, all Directors of The Manchester Airport Group plc became Directors of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited  

in February 2013.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Since 1 October 2008, Directors have been under a statutory duty to avoid any situation in which they have or can have a direct or 
indirect interest that conflicts or possibly may conflict with the interests of the Company. The duty is not infringed where a conflict has 
been authorised in advance by the unconflicted Directors or shareholders of the Company or where the situation can be reasonably 
regarded as unlikely to give rise to a conflict of interest. The Company’s Articles of Association permits the unconflicted Directors to 
authorise conflict situations and procedures have been put in place for the disclosure of any conflicts by the Directors to the board and 
for the consideration and if appropriate authorisation of such conflicts. The procedures permit any authorisation to be subject to any 
limits and/or conditions that the Directors think fit. 

BOARD PROCESSES AND PROCEDURES

The Group has an induction programme for all new Directors joining the Board which comprises key written information, meetings 
with members of the senior management team and site visits. The Group undertakes to provide the necessary resources for updating 
Directors’ knowledge by providing them with relevant information concerning both the Group and their responsibilities as Directors. 
In addition, there is a procedure whereby the Directors are able to take independent advice in relation to their duties at the Group’s 
expense, if appropriate.

During the year an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board’s performance and its committees was carried out. This was an internal 
exercise. A questionnaire was prepared, circulated and formed the basis of one to one discussions with the Directors. The Board 
considered feedback from the review and considered that it and the committees are operating in an effective manner.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The principal committees are as follows:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s members at 31 March 2013 are James Wallace (Chairman), Vanda Murray, Manoj Mehta and Kieran Quinn. 
Stuart Chambers and Mike Hancox resigned from the Audit Committee in February 2013.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s financial statements, internal control procedures, legal and regulatory 
compliance, risk management assessments, controls and procedures and matters including the appointment, independence, 
performance and cost effectiveness of the Group’s external auditors. These responsibilities are discharged as follows:

At its meetings in June and November the audit committee reviews the annual report and accounts and interim report,   ■

respectively and the Group Treasury Policy;

The external auditors meet with the audit committee in June and November without management present; ■

The Head of Group Risk Assurance presents a report on risk management and internal audit (including matters relating to the  ■

whistle blowing policy) to each meeting;

Board control procedures and the effectiveness of Internal Audit are reviewed in March each year. ■

The Audit Committee has established a policy on the engagement of the external auditors for non-audit services. The Audit Committee 
receives a report providing details of non-audit services (and related fees) carried out by the external auditors. This report is used by the 
Committee to monitor and review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

All members of the Audit Committee are independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board is satisfied that both James Wallace and 
Manoj Mehta have recent and relevant financial experience. The Audit Committee meets at least three times a year. The external 
auditors, the Group Chief Executive, the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Risk Assurance regularly attend meetings with 
the Audit Committee. The Head of Risk Assurance also has the opportunity to meet with the Chairman of the Audit Committee without 
executive management being present.

Remuneration and Review Committee
The Remuneration and Review Committee is responsible for reviewing and formulating remuneration policy (including bonuses, 
long term incentives and pension benefits) for executive Directors and senior executives within the Group. In addition, it sets annual 
performance targets for the Group Chief Executive and appraises performance against these targets. More information on the work  
of the Remuneration and Review Committee and Directors’ remuneration and related matters can be found in the Report on Directors’ 
Remuneration on page 52.

At 31 March 2013 the Remuneration and Review Committee’s members are Angela Spindler (Chairman), Christian Seymour, and 
 Sir Richard Leese. Stuart Chambers and David Partridge resigned from the Committee in February 2013. All members of the 
Remuneration and Review Committee are independent Non-Executive Directors.

This committee meets at least twice a year and at other times as it sees fit.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, to lead the process for 
potential appointments and to oversee succession planning in respect of the Board and senior executives. The appointment of the 
Chairman is managed by the Shareholders’ Appointments Panel. The committee meets at least once a year and at other times as 
 it sees fit. Its members are the Non-Executive Directors including the Chairman (who is also chairman of the committee). 

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to a proactive communications programme with its shareholders. The Chairman, Group Chief Executive  
and Group Chief Financial Officer attend meetings with the shareholders at their invitation.

The Company presents information and documentation to its shareholders annually on, inter alia, the following matters:

Three year business plan; ■

Dividend policy; ■

Major capital investments; and ■

Financial Results. ■

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The management of risks rests ultimately with the Board. These risks include health and safety, security, environmental, global economy, 
political, regulatory, strategy and human resource.

The Risk Assurance function, covering Risk Management, Internal Audit and Security. Quality Assurance, reports directly to the Group 
Chief Financial Officer.

Risk Registers are managed by individual risk owners and are updated on a regular basis. The holding of regular Business Risk 
Workshops at a divisional level and quarterly reviews of Group wide risk issues by the Executive Directors support this process.

The Board can confirm that enhanced risk management procedures have promoted greater awareness and that there is an ongoing 
process for the identification, evaluation and management of significant risks faced by the Group that is regularly reviewed by the Board.

GOING CONCERN

It should be recognised that any consideration of the foreseeable future involves making a judgement, at a particular point in time, 
about future events, which are inherently uncertain. Nevertheless, at the time of preparation of these accounts and after making 
appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue operating for  
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these accounts.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy

The Group recognises the increasing importance of effective management of Corporate and Social Responsibility (CSR) and the link 
between CSR and corporate governance. The Group acknowledges its responsibilities to its stakeholders, shareholders, employees, 
customers and the wider communities its airports serve and endeavours to inform them of the way it conducts its business. Corporate, 
social and ethical risks are identified and managed pursuant to the Group’s risk assessment and management process. More 
information on the Group’s commitment to CSR can be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility Report on page 30.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Code has extended the requirement that the Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal financial control to 
cover all controls including financial, operational, compliance and risk management.

The Directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, which aims to safeguard assets and shareholders’ investment, 
to ensure that proper accounting records are maintained, to ensure compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements and to 
ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of operations. A system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The Group’s overall system of internal control has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of this annual report.  
The key elements of the internal control environment are:

Clearly defined organisational structures, schemes of delegation and lines of responsibilities; ■

Regular board meetings with a formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board for decision; ■

Board approval of long term business strategies, key business objectives and annual budgets (an annual review is undertaken   ■

to update the business strategies and key business objectives); 

Preparation and Board approval of revised forecasts during the year; ■

Monitoring performance on a monthly basis against budget and benchmarking of key performance indicators, with remedial   ■

action being taken where appropriate;

Monitoring annual performance against business plans; ■

Established procedures for planning, approving and monitoring capital projects, together with post investment project appraisal; ■

An internal audit function; and ■

Implementation of Group wide procedures, policies, standards and processes on business activities, such as financial reporting,  ■

health and safety and human resources.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued
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CHAIRMAN

Mike Davies
Appointed Non-Executive Chairman of the Company in April 2009. Formerly chairman of Baxi Group, Marshalls plc and the 
Royal Mint, currently Non-Executive Chairman of Pendragon plc.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Charlie Cornish
Appointed Group Chief Executive in October 2010. Prior to joining M.A.G, Charlie was Managing Director of Utility Solutions,  
the commercial business of United Utilities (UU) with operations in UK, Middle East, Australia, Bulgaria, Poland, Estonia and  
Philippines and was a Director of UU plc. Previously he worked for a number of manufacturing and service companies including  
Plessey Telecommunications, British Aerospace and ABF.

Ken O’Toole FCA
Ken was appointed as Chief Commercial Officer in January 2012. Prior to that he spent six years with Ryanair Holdings plc, joining 
initially as Head of Revenue Management and latterly as Director of New Route Development. A qualified Chartered Accountant his 
previous experience includes Musgrave Group, a leading Irish and UK based retailer and Credit Suisse First Boston.

Neil Thompson ACA, CTA
Joined M.A.G in 2005, being Commercial FD and then Corporate FD, prior to taking on the role of Chief Financial Officer in March 
2011. Neil previously held senior finance roles at The MAN Group and ALSTOM, with responsibility across businesses in the UK, 
Europe, North America, Canada, India, Singapore and Australia. Prior to the power generation sector, Neil spent seven years in 
financial practice, specialising in Corporate Finance and M&A transactions, latterly with PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Vanda Murray OBE FCIM BA (Hons)
Appointed in January 2010, Vanda holds a portfolio of Non-Executive Directorships, including Carillion plc, Chemring plc, and Fenner 
plc. She is also Deputy Chair of Governors at Manchester Metropolitan University. Prior to this she was CEO of Blick plc a FTSE quoted 
International Group. She was appointed OBE in 2002 for services to industry and to export.

Angela Spindler
Appointed in January 2008. In June 2013 Angela was appointed as CEO of the Manchester based home shopping business N Brown 
plc. She joined N Brown from the value retail chain ‘The Original Factory Shop’ where she spent four and a half years as CEO.  
Prior to that she was MD of Debenhams plc and before that had spent ten years as ASDA, most recently as MD of George Clothing.

James Wallace BSc (ECON), FCA, FCT
Appointed in January 2008. He is currently Chairman of Scapa Group plc. He was formerly Chairman of Bodycote plc.

Sir Richard Leese
Appointed in March 2013. Leader of the City Council of Manchester since 1996. His other roles include Chair of the Greater 
Manchester Low Carbon Hub, Vice Chair of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), Chair of the Regional Leaders’ 
Board and the Chair of the Core Cities Cabinet.

Christian Seymour
Appointed in March 2013. Head of Infrastructure (Europe) for Industry Funds Management with responsibility for business expansion  
in Europe and oversight of IFM’s existing European asset portfolio. Over 20 years of experience working for companies including  
Duke Energy, Santos, BHP Billiton, Bechtel and Woodside, successfully delivering large scale projects involving multi-disciplinary teams.

Manoj Mehta
Appointed in March 2013. Executive Director (Europe) for Industry Funds Management with responsibility for evaluating, implementing 
and Managing European investments. Prior to this role he held senior positions within Transport for London and the Infrastructure 
Advisory Group at Citigroup.

Kieran Quinn
Appointed in July 2012, Kieran has been the elected Labour member for Droylsden East since 1994 and has been the Executive Leader 
of Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council since 2010. He is also the Chair of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum and Chair 
of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund Management Panel. Kieran also Chairs and serves on the Boards of a number of local and 
regional organisations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Although the Company is not a quoted company, as a matter of best practice it implements the Directors’ Remuneration Regulations, 
as appropriate to its circumstances. This report covers the remuneration of Directors and related matters, including pay and benefits, 
remuneration policy and detailed terms of reference of the Remuneration and Review Committee. The first part of this report is unaudited.

REMUNERATION AND REVIEW COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

The members of the Committee are set out on page 47. The terms of reference for the Committee are as follows:

To determine and review the policy for the remuneration and conditions of service for executive Directors and senior executives   ■

within The Manchester Airport Group plc

To determine short term incentives and long term incentives for executive Directors and senior executives within the  ■

Manchester Airport Group plc;

To determine the policy for and scope of pension arrangements and employee benefits for The Manchester Airport Group plc; ■

To set annual performance targets for the Group Chief Executive and to review the performance of the Group Chief Executive  ■

against such targets.

The Committee meets at least twice a year and at other times as it sees fit.

The Group Chief Executive, the Human Resources Director and the Reward and Employment Policy Director attend meetings with the 
Committee as and when appropriate. No Director has any involvement in any decisions relating to his own remuneration.

The Committee is responsible for appointing external independent consultants to advise on executive remuneration matters. This advice 
and assistance has been provided throughout the year by New Bridge Street (NBS). The Human Resources Director has also provided 
advice to the Committee.

REMUNERATION POLICy

The objective of the remuneration policy in respect of the executive Directors and senior executives is to offer remuneration packages that:

Allow the Group to attract, motivate and retain senior executives of high-calibre who are capable of delivering the Group’s  ■

objectives; and

Link rewards to both individual and corporate performance, responsibility and contribution. ■

The policy seeks to provide total remuneration packages that are positioned to provide a competitive level of remuneration in the 
markets in which executives are based and which assist in attracting and retaining high-calibre management. The Committee is, 
however, aware of the risk of an upward ratchet in remuneration levels through over-reliance on comparative survey data.

The commercial environment is a demanding one and it is critical that incentives are in place for executives to be rewarded for the 
achievement of specific and measurable performance goals. Where the goals are not met, it is also appropriate that this is recognised 
in a considerably reduced level of remuneration received. Accordingly the annual and long-term incentives make up a significant part  
of each executive Director’s compensation package.

REMUNERATION PACKAGES COMPRISE:

Basic salaries set based on an assessment of a number of factors considered relevant (as explained below). ■

Discretionary incentives which are payable to the executive Directors and senior executives subject to the fulfilment of certain  ■

performance criteria. The Committee agrees the amount of performance incentive and the ongoing criteria are examined to ensure 
that they remain focused upon motivating Directors to enhance individual performance and create shareholder value.

Other benefits include a car cash allowance, or an equivalent car, in addition to permanent health insurance, critical illness cover  ■

and death in service life cover.

All Executive Directors and Senior Executives are entitled to join the Group’s pension scheme. ■

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ BASIC SALARIES AND INCENTIVES

The basic salaries of Executive Directors are reviewed annually, having regard to personal performance, Group size and performance, 
responsibility levels, affordability and competitive market practice. To assist in market comparison, New Bridge Street provides data and 
independent advice on remuneration levels in companies considered to be comparable in terms of market capitalisation, industry sector 
and revenue, although the Committee is careful not to place excessive reliance on such data.

Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the M.A.G Executive Directors Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) linked to key shareholder targets. 

Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in the long-term incentive plan (LTIP) linked to growing long term shareholder returns. 

In both the STIP and the LTIP schemes, the Group has to grow capital value and dividends, otherwise incentives will not be payable.

In addition to the challenging performance targets, the Committee retains discretion to reduce STIP and LTIP awards in part or in full,  
in exceptional circumstances, such as exceptional event impacting the Group.

CLAWBACK

In line with best practice, a clawback provision is included in the STIP and the LTIP. This provision enables the Group to reduce awards  
or reclaim payments made, in the event of a material misstatement or error in the financial results, or where the Group has made an 
error in calculating the amount of award, or where there has been gross misconduct on the part of the participant. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Group’s policy is that Directors will be employed with a notice period of twelve months.

EXTERNAL DIRECTORSHIPS

Executive Directors are not permitted to accept external Directorships without the prior approval of the Board.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

A number of the Non-Executive Directors receive fees for their services but none of the Non-Executive Directors participate in any  
of the incentive or benefit schemes of the Group (including pensions). See table below for information.

The Board determines the remuneration for Non-Executive Directors excluding the Chairman. The Shareholders’ Appointments Panel 
determines the remuneration for the Chairman.

The Board’s current policy with regard to Non-Executive Directors is that appointments are on fixed terms of either one, two or three 
years with a notice period of one month.

AUDITED INFORMATION

The remainder of the Directors’ Remuneration Report is audited information. Individual aspects of remuneration are as follows:

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The company provides pension benefits to eligible employees through legacy defined benefit arrangements or the M.A.G Retirement 
and Death Benefit Scheme which is a defined contribution (DC) arrangement. The DC arrangement is available for newly eligible 
employees and provides money purchase pension benefits. 

A salary sacrifice arrangement for the payment of employee pension contributions (called SMART pensions) was introduced in March 
2010 in order to reduce National Insurance contributions payable by the Company and the members. 

The Executive Directors are eligible for pension contributions to be paid into a Group money purchase scheme or be paid a cash 
equivalent and the Group paid total contributions of £163,187 (2012: £203,300) during the year. No elements of remuneration, other 
than basic salary, are pensionable. 

The Company is not compensating any member of the Schemes for any additional tax which is payable as a result of changes to 
government policy. However since the lowering of the Annual Allowance threshold in April 2011 members of the DC arrangement do 
have the opportunity to voluntarily give up some of their pension contributions in order to avoid incurring Annual Allowance tax charges. 
To the extent that contributions are given up voluntarily the Company will pay a discretionary cash supplement in lieu of pension 
provision given up.

Angela Spindler 
Chairman of the Remuneration and Review Committee 
10 July 2013

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Salary/fees/
expenses1

£’000

 Car/fuel card 
cash alternative

£’000

 Bonuses

£’000

Other 
allowances

 Benefits  
in kind2

£’000

 Total emoluments 
2013
£’000

 Total emoluments 
2012
£’000

Executive Directors 942 25 615 26 38 1,646 795

Non-Executive Directors
Mike Davies 125 - - - - 125 125 
Stuart Chambers 23 - - - - 23 25 
Michael Hancox 23 - - - - 23 25 
Kieran Quinn5,6 - - - - - - -
Vanda Murray 25 - - - - 25 25 
David Partridge 22 - - - - 22 25 
Angela Spindler 25 - - - - 25 25 
James Wallace 25 - - - - 25 25 
Richard Leese5,7 - - - - - - -
Bernard Priest5,8 - - - - - - -
Christian Seymour5,7 - - - - - - -
Manoj Mehta5,7 - - - - - - -
Former Directors3 - - - - - - 333 

1,210 25 615 26 38 1,914 1,403

The highest paid Director received aggregate emoluments in the year of £694,000 (2012: £480,000). Aggregate emoluments includes accrued 
salaries, allowances and bonuses.

NOTES:
1 In practice, the basic salaries paid to Executive Directors have been reduced due to 

their participation in the Company’s SMART Pensions salary sacrifice arrangement. 
The salary reductions in 2013 were £79,000 (2012: £111,400) These correspond to 
their contributions to the M.A.G Retirement and Death Benefit Scheme, which are now 
met directly by the Company as part of this arrangement.

2 Benefits in kind include the taxable values of cars, critical illness insurance and certain 
travel costs provided by the Group.

3 Penny Coates stood down in January 2012.

4 Ken O’Toole was appointed Chief Commercial Officer in January 2012. For the 
previous year, emoluments have been pro-rated to reflect the period of Directorship.

5 Kieran Quinn, Richard Leese, Bernard Priest, Christian Seymour and Manoj Mehta 
receive no remuneration or fees.

6 Kieran Quinn was appointed in July 2012.
7 Richard Leese, Christian Seymour and Manoj Mehta were appointed in March 2013.
8 Bernard Priest resigned in February 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

The Directors present their report to shareholders on the affairs of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (‘the Company’) from 
incorporation on 9 January 2013 through to 31 March 2013 together with the audited financial statements of the Group covering  
the year ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Manchester Airports Holdings Limited comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’). The principal activities of the Group 
during the year were the ownership, operation and development of airport facilities in the UK. The Group’s revenues were derived from 
aircraft and passenger handling charges, together with income from airport commercial and retail activities and property.

RESULTS, REVIEW OF BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The consolidated results for the year are set out on page 70.

The Company intends to continue its development of the Group as an operator of high quality airports and airport facilities, meeting  
the demand for air travel arising in the regions served, with a reputation for quality, customer service, value for money and a sustainable 
approach to development.

A more detailed review of the Group’s principal activities, results and future developments is provided in the Chairman’s Statement,  
the Review of Operations and the Finance Review.

DIVIDENDS AND TRANSFERS TO RESERVES

The retained loss for the year of £41.9m (2012: loss £29.2m) after dividends paid of £20.1m (2012: £20.0m) will be transferred 
 to reserves.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Shareholders as at 31 March 2013 are set out below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At 31 March 2013, the Board comprised 11 Directors, consisting of the Chairman, three Executive Directors and seven Non-Executive 
Directors, all of whom were considered independent.

During the period, the following Board changes took place:
Charlie Cornish and Neil Thompson were appointed Directors of the Company on incorporation on 9 January 2013.

Mike Davies, Ken O’Toole, Sir Richard Leese, Manoj Mehta, Vanda Murray, Kieran Quinn, Christian Seymour, Angela Spindler and 
James Wallace were appointed as Directors on 28 February 2013.

Mike Davies, Charlie Cornish, Ken O’Toole, Neil Thompson, Vanda Murray, Angela Spindler and James Wallace were Directors  
of The Manchester Airport plc prior to the restructure of the Group.

Kieran Quinn was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of The Manchester Airport plc in July 2012.

Mike Davies, Vanda Murray, Angela Spindler, James Wallace Stuart Chambers, Mike Hancox, Ken O’Toole and David Partridge, 
resigned as Directors of The Manchester Airport Group plc on 28 February 2013.

Bernard Priest resigned as a Non-Executive Director of The Manchester Airport Group plc on 28 January 2013.

David Goddard resigned as a Non-Executive Director of The Manchester Airport Group plc on 4 May 2012. 

The Directors of the Company, who held office during the year, had no interest in the shares of the Group companies at any time  
during the year. Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

(a) so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

(b) they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. This confirmation is given and should be interpreted  
in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SINCE THE yEAR END

There have been no changes to the Board of Directors since the year end.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of contracts of significance with The Council of the City of Manchester are set out in Note 31 to these financial statements.

EMPLOyEES

Employment Policies
The Group’s employment policies are regularly reviewed, refreshed where applicable and updated in agreement with the Board.

The Group is committed to treating all employees and job applicants fairly and on merit regardless of gender, sexual orientation,  
age, race, nationality, physical ability, political beliefs or religion. The Group does not tolerate harassment or discrimination of any kind. 
People with disabilities are given the same consideration as others when applying for jobs. If an employee becomes disabled every effort 
is made to retain them in their current role or provide retraining or redeployment within the Group.

Shareholder Voting Shares % Non-Voting Shares %

The Council of the City of Manchester 10 50.0% 112,354,000 35.5%
Industry Funds Management  
(via the IFM Global Infrastructure Fund)

10 50.0% 112,354,000 35.5%

The Borough Council of Bolton 10,214,000 3.2%
The Council of the Metropolitan Borough of Bury 10,214,000 3.2%
The Oldham Borough Council 10,214,000 3.2%
The Rochdale Borough Council 10,214,000 3.2%
The Council of the City of Salford 10,214,000 3.2%
The Metropolitan Borough Council of Stockport 10,214,000 3.2%
The Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 10,214,000 3.2%
The Trafford Borough Council 10,214,000 3.2%
The Wigan Borough Council 10,214,000 3.2%

20 100% 316,634,000 100.0%
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Diversity
The Group understands that employing a diverse workforce provides access to use a wider range of talents and skills, which can lead  
to creativity and innovation. The Group believes that by mirroring the communities and cultures that surround it, it can better understand 
and anticipate the diverse needs of its customers.

To get the best from employees and meet the varying needs of its diverse customer base, it is very important that diversity is managed 
positively. Accordingly, the Group has a Diversity Programme, which aims to ensure that these objectives are achieved. 

Consultation and Communication
Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that views are taken into 
account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests and that all employees are aware of the financial and economic 
performance of their business units and of the Group as a whole. During the year under review an employee survey was undertaken  
in which all employees had the opportunity to participate and provide their views.

The Group is constantly looking for ways to ensure that employees are able to participate and engage in the business. As part of the 
Trade Union recognition arrangements various employee forums exist for each business area, more information on consultation is 
provided in the report on corporate responsibility. In addition, briefings are cascaded throughout the organisation to communicate key 
business and operational issues and there is a Group wide in-house magazine, which is produced on a quarterly basis. 

POLICy AND PRACTICE ON PAyMENT OF CREDITORS

The Group’s current policy concerning the payment of the majority of its trade creditors is to follow the CBI’s Prompt Payers Code (copies 
are available from the CBI, Centre Point, 103 New Oxford Street, London, WC1A 1DU). For other suppliers the Group’s policy is to:

settle the terms of payment with those suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction; ■

ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant terms in contracts; and  ■

pay in accordance with its contractual and other legal obligations. ■

The payment practice applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services without exception.  
The period of credit taken by the Group at 31 March 2013 was 46 days (2012: 47 days), which has been calculated in accordance  
with the average number of days between date of invoice and the payment of the invoice.

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group and its subsidiaries during the year totalled £0.3m (2012: £0.4m). The donations were all made 
to recognised local and national charities for a variety of purposes. It is the Group’s policy not to make contributions to political parties.

AUDITORS

A resolution to reappoint KPMG LLP as auditors to the Company will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 
By order of the Board.

Charlie Cornish 
Chief Executive 
M.A.G 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
10 July 2013

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and 
have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the group and 
parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; ■

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; ■

for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;  ■

for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to   ■

any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and the parent  ■

company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors have decided to prepare voluntarily a Directors’ Remuneration Report as if the requirements of Schedule 8 of The Large 
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 made under the Companies Act 2006 applied  
to the company.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the  
company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MANCHESTER AIRPORTS HOLDINGS LTD.

We have audited the group financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2013 set out 
on pages 61 to 103. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 59, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an 
opinion on, the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the group financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of its loss for the year then ended; ■

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and ■

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. ■

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the group financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or ■

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. ■

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited for the year  
ended 31 March 2013 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) as endorsed by the EU and with those parts of the Companies Act applicable to companies reporting under adopted IFRS.  
The historical cost convention is applicable to these financial statements with the exception of investment properties, financial instruments 
and employee benefit scheme assets and obligations, which are fair valued at each reporting date.

These are the first set of consolidated financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (‘the Group’), which is now the new 
ultimate holding company of The Manchester Airport Group plc following the reorganisation of the Group structure to facilitate the 
acquisition of Stansted Airport Limited. 

The formation of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, prior to the acquisition of Stansted Airport Limited, was not a business 
combination involving a third party, and as such, the financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited have been presented as 
a continuation of The Manchester Airport Group plc. To do so, the principles of reverse acquisition accounting in IFRS 3 have been applied. 
The result of this application is to present the financial statements as if Manchester Airports Holdings Limited has always owned the Group, 
comparatives have been prepared on this basis accordingly.

Going concern
The current economic conditions create uncertainty particularly over passenger numbers, which has a direct impact on income. The Group 
has demonstrated its ability to grow operating margins together with the ability to manage its investment program according to affordability 
and business performance.

At the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group had £1,456.9m (2012 £525.8m) of committed facilities and a net debt position of 
£1,117.4m (2012: £398.7m). The Group had financial headroom of £362m (2012: £120m) at the year-end, a level comfortably  
in excess of the internal compliance target.

Under existing facilities and based on the board approved three-year business plan M.A.G is forecast to have financial headroom  
in excess of £260m throughout 2013/14. 

The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the Group 
should be able to operate within the level of its current facility.

The Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic 
outlook. After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing the annual report and financial statements.

The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with prevailing accounting practice requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The assumptions and estimates are based  
on management’s best knowledge of the event or actions in question, however actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

The accounting policies that the Group has adopted to determine the amounts included in respect of material items shown in the 
Statement of Financial Position, and also to determine the profit or loss, are shown below. Unless stated otherwise, these have been 
applied on a consistent basis.

GROUP REORGANISATION

Prior to the acquisition of Stansted Airport Limited, the Group undertook a group reorganisation to introduce a new investor in the Group.

The effect of this reorganisation was to insert a new ultimate parent company, Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, into the Group  
by way of a share for share exchange.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Jonathan Hurst (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
St James’ Square, Manchester M2 6DS 
10 July 2013
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Key steps in this process include:

On 21 December 2012, Manchester Airport Group plc formed two companies, Manchester Airport Group Finance Limited and 
Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited with £100 of ordinary share capital.

On 9 January 2013, a new company, Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, was incorporated as the new ultimate parent company 
for the Group. Manchester City Council and the other nine local authority shareholders transferred their shares in Manchester Airport 
Group plc to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited by way of a share for share exchange in return for 204,280,000 £1 ordinary shares 
in Manchester Airports Holdings Limited.

On 11 January 2013, Manchester Airports Holdings Limited formed Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited with nominal share 
capital of one £1 ordinary shares. Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited acquired Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited 
from Manchester Airport Group plc for £100 cash. 

On 7 February 2013, Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited acquired Manchester Airport Group plc and its subsidiaries for 
£1,453,608,668.

On 7 February 2013, Manchester Airport Finance Holding transferred Manchester Airport Group plc and its subsidiaries to Manchester 
Airport Group Investments Limited by way of a share for share exchange in return for 100,000 £1 ordinary shares in Manchester 
Airport Group Investments Limited. Manchester Airport Group plc in turn transferred Manchester Airport plc and all other subsidiaries to 
Manchester Airport Group Finance by way of a share for share exchange in return for 99,900 £1 ordinary shares in Manchester Airport 
Group Finance.

On 28 February 2013, Industry Funds Management (via the IFM Global Infrastructure Fund) subscribed for a 35.5% equity stake of 
£799,549,555 in Manchester Airports Holdings Limited in return for 10 ‘B’ shares and 112,354,000 non-voting shares.

NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS

The following new accounting standards, amendment to standards and interpretations are adopted for the first time in the preparation 
of these financial statements: 

Amendment to IFRS 7,’Financial instruments: disclosures’, on transfer of financial assets: This amendment aims to promote  ■

transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users’ understanding of the risk exposures relating to transfer of 
fixed assets and the effect of those risks of an entity’s financial position, particularly those involving securitization of financial asset.

This new amendment to standard has had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Effective for financial year ended 31 March 2014

Amendment to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’: The amendment calculates finance costs on a net funding basis ■

Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’, regarding other comprehensive income. The main change resulting  ■

from this amendment is a requirement for entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis 
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). This amendment does not 
address which items are presented in OCI.

Amendment to IFRS7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, on asset and liability offsetting: This amendment includes new disclosure  ■

to facilitate comparison between those entities that prepare IFRS financial statements to those that prepare financial statements in 
accordance with US GAAP.

Amendments to IFRSs 10,11 and 12 on transition guidance: These amendments provide additional transition relief to IFRSs10,  ■

11 and 12, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding comparative period.

Annual improvements to IFRSs, 2009-2011 reporting cycle. ■

Amendment to IFRS1, ‘First time adoption’: The amendment clarifies that an entity may apply IFRS1 more than once under certain  ■

circumstances. Also an entity can choose to adopt IAS 23, ‘Borrowing Costs’, either from its date of transition or from an earlier date.

Amendment to IAS1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’: The amendment clarifies the disclosure requirements for comparative  ■

information when an entity provides a third balance sheet either as required by IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and errors’; or voluntary.

Amendment to IFRS1 as a result of the above amendment to IAS 1: The consequential amendment clarifies that a first-time adopter  ■

should provide the supporting notes for all statements presented.

Amendment to IAS16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’: The amendment clarifies that spare parts and servicing equipment are  ■

classified as property, plant and equipment rather than inventory when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment.

Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments’: The amendment clarifies the treatment of income tax relating to distributions and  ■

transaction costs.

Amendment to IAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’ The amendment clarifies the disclosure requirements for segment assets and  ■

liabilities in interim financial statements.

Effective for year ended 31 March 2015

IFRS 10,’Consolidated financial statements’: This aims to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated  ■

financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entity (an entity that controls one or more other entities) to present 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’: This aims to show a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and  ■

obligations of the parties to the arrangement rather than its legal form. There are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations 
and joint ventures. Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed.

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’: This explains the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities,  ■

including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.

IFRS 13,’Fair value measurement’: This provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement   ■

and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs.

IAS 27 (revised 2011), ‘Separate financial statements’: This outlines the accounting and disclosure requirements relating to separate financial  ■

statements, which are financial statements prepared by a parent or an investor in a joint venture or associate, where those investments are 
accounted for either at cost or in accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ or IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’. 

IAS 28 (revised 2011), ‘Associates and joint ventures’: This outlines how to apply, with certain limited exceptions, the equity method  ■

to investments in associates and joint ventures.

Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, on asset and liability offsetting: This amendment is to the application  ■

guidance in IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, and clarifies some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and 
financial liabilities on the balance sheet.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
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Effective for the year ended 31 March 2016

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’: This is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments:  ■

Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary 
measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of consolidation depends on the entity’s 
business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of 
financial assets and hedge accounting continues to apply. 

None of these standards, interpretations or amendments are expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Group except for the following: 

Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’ regarding other comprehensive income: The main change resulting from these 
amendments is a requirement for entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of whether they 
are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendments do not address which items 
are presented in OCI.

Amendment to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’: These amendments calculate finance costs on a net funding basis.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited are presented as a continuation of The Manchester 
Airport Group plc Group following the reorganisation described above. The Manchester Airports Holdings Limited Group is deemed  
to have existed throughout the current and prior year and comparative information has been prepared accordingly.

These consolidated accounts include the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Financial Position, and Statement of Cash flows for Manchester Airports Holdings Limited and all of its subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries have been consolidated from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Minority Interests are not recognised where subsidiaries are in a net liabilities position, unless there is a binding obligation and ability  
to pay by the Minority Interest in a net liabilities position.

Subsidiaries that have been previously consolidated and are subsequently classified as held for sale continue to be consolidated until  
the completion of the sale. 

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS

Classification as a discontinuing operation occurs on disposal or when an operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

The conditions required for held for sale classification are:

Management is committed to a plan to sell; ■

The asset is available for immediate sale; ■

An active programme to locate a buyer is initiated; ■

The sale is highly probable, with 12 months of classification as held for sale; ■

The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a sale price reasonable in relation to its fair value; ■

Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that the plan will be significantly changed or withdrawn. ■

When an operation is classified as discontinuing, the comprehensive income statement is re-presented as if the operation had been 
discontinuing from the start of the comparative year.

REVENUE

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales tax or duty.

The following revenue recognition criteria apply to the Group’s main income streams:

Various passenger charges for handling and security based upon the number of departing passengers, recognised at point of departure; ■

Aircraft departure and arrival charges levied according to weight, recognised at point of departure; ■

Aircraft parking charges based upon a combination of weight and time parked, recognised at point of departure; ■

Car parking income recognised at the point of exit for turn-up short and long stay parking. Contract parking and pre-book parking  ■

is recognised over the period to which it relates on a straight-line basis; 

Concession income from retail and commercial concessionaries is recognised in the period to which it relates on an accruals basis;  ■

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term; and ■

Development profits are recognised upon legal completion of contracts. ■

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date- i.e. when the Group assumes control. 
Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as obtain benefits from its 
activities. For acquisitions completed before 1 April 2010, attributable costs of the acquisition formed part of goodwill. For acquisitions 
completed after 1 April 2010, attributable costs of acquisition are expensed in the income statement in the period incurred.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the 
assets, liabilities and contingent liability of an acquired entity. Positive goodwill is capitalised as an asset in the consolidated balance 
sheet and is subject to annual impairment reviews. Negative goodwill is recognised in the income statement immediately.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group have finite useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits embodied in the specific assets to which it relates. 
Amortisation is based on the costs of an asset less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life, from the date that 
they are available for use. 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

If there are indications of impairment in the carrying value then the recoverable amount is estimated and compared to the carrying amount.
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PROPERTy, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment constitutes the Group’s operational asset base including terminal, airfield, car parking, land, plant, and 
owner occupied property assets. Investment properties held to earn rentals or for capital growth are accounted for separately under  
IAS 40 ‘Investment properties’.

The Group has elected to use the cost model under IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ as modified by the transitional exemption  
to account for assets at deemed cost that were revalued previously under UK GAAP. Deemed cost is the cost or valuation of assets as at 
1 April 2005. Consequently property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes 
directly attributable own labour. 

The Group does not capitalise borrowing costs into the cost of property, plant and equipment, unless the criteria under IAS 23 are met. 

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of an asset on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life of the relevant asset. 

Expected useful lives are set out below: 
Years

Freehold and long leasehold property 10 – 50
Runways, taxiways and apron 5 – 75
Mains services 7 – 100
Plant and machinery 5 – 30
Motor vehicles 3 – 7
Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 5 – 10

Useful economic lives are reviewed on an annual basis, to ensure they are still relevant and appropriate.

No depreciation is provided on land. Repairs and maintenance costs are written off as incurred.

Assets under construction, which principally relate to airport infrastructure are not depreciated until such time that they are available for use. If there 
are indications of impairment in the carrying value then the recoverable amount is estimated and compared to the carrying amount. Recoverable 
amount is determined as the value that will ultimately be capitalised as an Asset, based upon IAS 16 recognition and capitalisation criteria.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group accounts for investment properties in accordance with IAS 40 ‘Investment properties’. An investment property is one held to 
either earn rental income or for capital growth. The Group has elected to use the fair value model and therefore investment properties 
are initially recognised at cost and then revalued to fair value at the reporting date by an Independent Property Valuer. Investment 
properties are not depreciated. 

Gains or losses in fair value of investment properties are recognised in the income statement for the period in which they arise.  
Gains or losses on disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement on completion. 

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair value at the date  
of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

PROPERTy DEVELOPMENT CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 

Property development construction in progress represents the gross amount of construction completed for work performed to date on 
the development of properties specifically for sale to third parties. Costs include all expenditure incurred to date related specifically  
to development projects. Property development construction in progress is presented as part of inventories and is recognised at cost.

IMPAIRMENT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the assets recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

HELD FOR SALE ASSETS

Subsidiaries held for sale are treated as a disposal group, comprising assets and liabilities that are expected to be recovered through 
sale rather than continuing use, are classified as held for sale. On reclassification as held for sale the components of the disposal group 
are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value, less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on initial classification as held 
for sale assets and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in the income statement.

LEASES

Leases are classified according to the substance of the agreement. Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the Group, a lease is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any benefits received by the Group as an 
incentive to sign the lease are spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leased assets are capitalised in property, plant and equipment at the lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease 
payments and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Obligations under finance leases are included within payables, with minimum lease payments being apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction in the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the term of the lease so as  
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining Statement of Financial Position liability. 

INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

GRANTS

Revenue grants are recognised in the Income Statement during the periods to which they relate. 

Grants received and receivable relating to property, plant and equipment are shown as a deferred credit on the Statement of Financial 
Position. An annual transfer to the Income Statement is made on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset in respect 
of which the grant was received.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair value, and subsequently less any provision for impairment.

Trade and other receivables are appraised throughout the year to assess the need for any provision for impairment.

Specific provision for impairment has been determined by identifying all external debts where it is more probable than not, that they will not 
be recovered in full, and a corresponding amount is charged against operating profit. Trade receivables are stated net of any such provision.

With regard to other receivables specific provision for impairment would be recognised upon the carrying value of such receivables 
being higher than the their recoverable amount.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

66
M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13

67

magworld.co.uk

M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and short-term 
deposits net of bank overdrafts, which have an original maturity of three months or less.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost.  
Any difference between the amount initially recognised (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the  
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

BORROWING COSTS

The Group does not capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets  
into the cost of property, plant and equipment, unless the criteria under IAS 23 are met. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

TRADE AND OTHER PAyABLES

Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of  
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of money, and where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (derivatives) such as interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks 
associated with floating rate loans. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured to fair value in 
future periods. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined by reference to discounted cash flows or options valuation 
model. The method of recognising the resulting change in fair value is dependent on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument. The effectiveness of any hedge is tested at each period end to ensure that the hedge remains effective. 

Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately recognised in the 
income statement. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, the change in fair value of these derivatives relating to the effective 
portion of the hedge is recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods when the hedged items will affect profit or loss. 

TAXATION

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account deferred taxation due to temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and the accounting bases of assets and liabilities in the financial statements. 

The principal constituent of the deferred tax liability in the Group financial statements is temporary differences on property, plant and 
equipment where the carrying value in the financial statements is in excess of the tax base due to accelerated capital allowances and the 
previous effects of revaluations under UK GAAP. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that the temporary difference can be utilised against 
taxable profit in the future. Taxation and deferred tax, relating to items recognised directly in equity, are also recognised directly in equity. 

Deferred taxation is based on the tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date and that are 
expected to apply when the relevant deferred tax item is realised or settled.

Current tax has been calculated at the rate of 24% applicable to accounting periods ending 31 March 2013 (2012: 26%).

EMPLOyEE BENEFIT COSTS

The Group participates in four defined benefit schemes, which are contracted out of the state scheme as well as a defined contribution scheme. 

The costs of defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they are incurred. 

Defined benefit schemes are accounted for as an asset or liability on the Statement of Financial Position. The asset or liability reflects the 
present value of defined benefit obligations, less the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for past service costs. 

The amount reported in the Income Statement for employee benefit costs includes past service costs, current service costs, interest costs 
and return on assets income. Past service costs are charged to the income statement immediately and current service costs are charged 
to the income statement for the period to which they relate. Interest costs, reflecting the unwinding of the discounted value of the scheme 
obligations, and return on assets, reflecting the long term expected return on scheme assets, are charged or credited to the income 
statement for the period to which they relate. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The defined benefit asset or liability, the current and past service costs are calculated at the reporting date by an independent actuary 
using the projected unit credit method.

Under IFRIC 14 surplus on pension schemes are not recognised unless there is an unconditional right to recover or realise them at some 
point during the life of the plan. The unconditional right would not exist when the availability of the refund or the reduction in future 
contribution would be contingent upon factors beyond the entity’s control (for example, approval by third parties such as plan trustees). 
To the extent the right is contingent, no asset would be recognised.

DIVIDENDS

A dividend to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements during the period in which  
the right to receive a payment is established via the declaration of a dividend by the Group’s Board of Directors.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Notes 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Total 
Before

Significant 
items

After  
significant

Before 
significant

Significant 
items

After  
significant

significant items items items
items

Continuing operations
Revenue 1 411.5 - 411.5 373.2 - 373.2 
Result from operations before significant items 4 73.0 - 73.0 65.5 - 65.5 

Significant items
Acquisition costs 3 - (28.4) (28.4) - - - 
Restructuring costs 3 - (1.1) (1.1) - (4.4) (4.4)
Pension credit 3 - - - - 0.4 0.4 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 3 - - - - (38.5) (38.5)

Result from operations 4 73.0 (29.5) 43.5 65.5 (42.5) 23.0 

Movement in investment property fair values 14 (3.6) - (3.6) (1.1) - (1.1)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps 3 - (6.0) (6.0) - - 
Finance costs 7 (31.1) - (31.1) (28.6) - (28.6) 
Finance costs-amortisation of issue costs1 3 - (2.0) (2.0) - - -
Settlement of previous financing2 3 - (30.9) (30.9) - - - 
Result before taxation 8 38.3 (68.4) (30.1) 35.8 (42.5) (6.7)

Taxation – ordinary (0.8) 9.5 8.7 8.4 4.5 12.9 
Taxation 9 (0.8) 9.5 8.7 8.4 4.5 12.9 
Result from continuing operations 37.5 (58.9) (21.4) 44.2 (38.0) 6.2 

Discontinued operations
Result from discontinued operations (net of tax) 32 - (0.4) (0.4) - (15.4) (15.4)

Result for the year 37.5 (59.3) (21.8) 44.2 (53.4) (9.2)

Earnings per share expressed in pence per share – 
Continuing operations 11  (10.01) 3.03 
Discontinuing operations 11  (0.19) (7.54)

NOTES:
1  Non-cash accelerated amortisation of issue costs related to previous £75m term loan, settled before contractual maturity date.
2  Non-cash item recognised on early settlement of previous £75m term loan, settled before contractual maturity date. Interest cost embedded into financial instruments entered into 

to hedge against the Group’s new financing.

Note 2013 2012
£m  £m 

Result for the year (21.8) (9.2)
Other comprehensive income
Actuarial loss on retirement benefit liabilities 23 6.0 (33.5)
Deferred tax on retirement benefits actuarial movements 9 (1.4) 8.0 
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax 9 (0.5) (0.4)
Other comprehensive expense for the year 4.1 (25.9)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (17.7) (35.1)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITy FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Attributable to equity holders
Note Share capital Share premium Reserves Total

 £m  £m  £m  £m 
At 1 April 2012 204.3 -  557.6  761.9 

Result for the year  - - (21.8) (21.8)
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax  - - (0.5) (0.5)
Defined benefit actuarial loss net of tax  - - 4.6 4.6 
Issue of ordinary shares  112.4  687.2 - 799.6 
Dividends paid to equity holders 10  - - (20.1) (20.1)

Balance At 31 March 2013 316.7 687.2 519.8 1,523.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2013

2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012
£m

Before 
significant 

items

£m
Significant 

items

£m
After 

significant 
items

£m
Before 

significant 
items

£m
Significant 

items

£m
After 

significant 
items

Cash flows from operating activities:
Result before taxation – continuing operations 38.3 (68.4) (30.1) 35.8 (42.5) (6.7)
Result before taxation – discontinuing operations - (0.4) (0.4) - (15.6) (15.6)
Change in value of investment properties 3.6 - 3.6 1.1 - 1.1 
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps - 6.0 6.0 - - -
Finance income and expense 31.1 - 31.1 28.6 - 28.6 
Amortisation of issue costs - 2.0 2.0 - - - 
Settlement of previous financing - 30.9 30.9 - - - 
Depreciation and amortisation 70.0 - 70.0 66.2 - 66.2 
Impairment of PPE - - - - 38.5 38.5 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 - 0.3 0.3 - 0.3 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables and inventories 5.4 - 5.4 (1.9) - (1.9)
Release of grants (0.7) - (0.7) (0.7) - (0.7)
Decrease in trade and other payables 0.8 - 0.8 4.0 - 4.0 
Decrease in retirement benefits provision (0.4) - (0.4) (3.5) - (3.5)
Impairment on held for sale assets - - - - 15.6 15.6 
Decrease/(Increase) in non-current assets held for sale  0.2 - 0.2 (0.2) - (0.2)
Cash generated from operations 148.6  (29.9)  118.7  129.7 (4.0)  125.7 

Interest paid - - (30.4) - - (28.0)
Interest received - -  - - - 0.0
Tax paid - - (14.9) - - (12.9)
Net cash from operating activities - - 73.4 - - 84.8

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment - - (55.0) - - (54.1)
Purchase of investment properties - - - - - (28.1)
Purchase of intangible assets - - (10.0) - - (10.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - - (1,468.7) - - -
Proceeds from sale of investment property - - 1.9 - - 1.1 
Proceeds from property, plant and equipment - - - - - -

Net cash used in investing activities - - (1,531.8) - - (91.1)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital - - 799.6 - -  - 
Increase in bank loan borrowings - - 881.7 - - 20.1
Increase in other borrowings - - 89.4 - - -
Repayment of loans and borrowings - - (236.0) - -  - 
Finance lease principal payments - - - - - (1.3)
Dividends paid to shareholders - - (20.1) - - (20.0)
Net cash used in financing activities - - 1,514.6 - - (1.20)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents - - 56.2 - - (7.5)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - - 0.7 - - 8.2

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March - - 56.9 - - 0.7

Cash and cash equivalents includes overdrafts of £nil (2012: £1.1m)

Notes 2013 2012
£m  £m 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12  2,389.1  1,157.0 
Intangible assets 13  30.0  20.0 
Goodwill 13  166.3 - 
Investment properties 14  566.4  354.9 
Deferred tax assets 24  26.2  18.0 

 3,178.0  1,549.9 

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 15  1.5  0.9 
Trade and other receivables 16  56.9 33.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 17  56.9 1.8 
Assets classified as held for sale - 0.2

 115.3 36.6 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings 18 - (1.1)
Trade and other payables 22 (125.6) (94.7)
Deferred income (17.4) (14.6)
Current tax liabilities (3.7) (9.5)

(146.7) (119.9)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (31.4) (83.3)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (1,137.0) (399.4)
Derivative financial liabilities (37.3) - 
Retirement benefit liabilities 23 (77.5) (75.2)
Deferred tax liabilities 24 (355.4) (213.9)
Other non-current liabilities 25 (15.7) (16.2)

(1,622.9) (704.7)

NET ASSETS 1,523.7 761.9 

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 26 316.7 204.3 
Share premium 26 687.2 - 
Retained earnings 27 519.8 557.6 

Total equity 1,523.7 761.9 

The financial statements on pages 61 to 103 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 July 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

Mike Davies 
Chairman 
M.A.G

Charlie Cornish 
Chief Executive 
M.A.G
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

2. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into five main operating divisions: Manchester Airport, Manchester Airport Developments, East 
Midlands Airport, Bournemouth Airport, Stansted Airport, and Humberside Airport which was classified as discontinued in the prior year. The divisions 
are the basis of which the Group reports its primary information. Stansted Airport was acquired by the Group on 28 February 2013. The segmental 
analysis shows Stansted Airport contribution to the group following acquisition. Segmental balance sheet information is presented as at 31 March.

2013 Manchester  
Airport

Manchester  
Airport Group 
Developments

East  
Midlands  

Airport

Bournemouth  
Airport

Stansted  
Airport

Group  
consolidation  

and other

Consolidated –  
continuing  
operations

Discontinued  
operations –  
Humberside  

Airport
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue
External sales 307.4 27.9 50.8 10.1 18.4 (3.1) 411.5 2.2
Inter-segment sales 0.4 2.6 - - - (3.0) - - 
Total revenue 307.8 30.5 50.8 10.1 18.4 (6.1) 411.5 2.2

Result
Segment profit before 
significant items

79.0 18.9 12.0 0.9 (0.6) (37.2) 73.0 0.2 

Other information
Segment assets 1,137.3 (Note 1) 302.1 92.1 1,355.4 406.4 3,293.3 - 
Segment liabilities (288.2) (Note 1) (76.0) (10.3) (129.6) (1,265.5) (1,769.6) - 
Capital expenditure 50.9 (Note 1) 5.2 0.4 2.2 - 58.7 - 
Depreciation 55.6 1.0 6.7 1.0 5.7 - 70.0 - 
Taxation charge/(credit) (14.5) (Note 1) (0.3) (0.4) 0.6 5.9 (8.7) - 

Result – geographical location2

Segment profit before 
significant items

93.1 - 12.8 4.9 (0.6) (37.2) 73.0 - 

2012 Manchester  
Airport

Manchester  
Airport Group 
Developments

East  
Midlands  

Airport

Bournemouth  
Airport

Stansted  
Airport

Group 
consolidation 

and other

Consolidated Humberside  
Airport

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
External sales 282.1 28.7 49.9 10.1 - 2.4 373.2 6.6
Inter-segment sales (0.1) 2.7 0.3 - - (2.9) - - 
Total revenue 282.0 31.4 50.2 10.1 - (0.5) 373.2 6.6

Result
Segment profit before 
exceptional items

72.2 18.8 6.6 (2.7) - (29.4) 65.5 - 

Other information
Impairment of property, 
plant and equipment

- - - 38.5 - - 38.5 -

Segment assets 1,144.1 (Note 1) 301.1 80.2 - 60.9 1,586.3 0.2
Segment liabilities (491.3) (Note 1) (78.6) (11.4) - (243.3) (824.6) -
Capital expenditure 77.5 (Note 1) 2.9 3.1 - - 83.5 1.4 
Depreciation 54.7 0.8 7.2 2.1 - 0.7 65.5 0.7
Taxation charge/(credit) (9.2) (Note 1) (1.7) (3.2) - 1.2 (12.9) 0.0

Result – geographical location2

Segment profit before 
significant items

87.3 - 7.5 0.2 - (29.5) 65.5 - 

NOTES:
1 The Group’s reporting structure is such that the assets and liabilities of Manchester Airport Group Developments are included in the Manchester Airport Statement of Financial Position.
2 For management accounting purposes M.A.G reports property income within The Manchester Airport Group plc Developments division. For statutory purposes property income is 

reported in the subsidiary companies depending on the geographical location of the investment properties. The table shows how profit from operations would appear with property 
reported by geographcial location.

2013 Manchester  
Airport

Manchester  
Airport Group 
Developments

East  
Midlands  

Airport

Bournemouth  
Airport

Stansted  
Airport

Group  
consolidation  

and other

Consolidated –  
continuing  
operations

Discontinued  
operations –  
Humberside  

Airport
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

2. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS continued

 An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: 
2013 2012

 £m  £m 

 Aviation income  196.1  169.6 

 Commercial income 
 Car parking 59.0  52.0 
 Property and property related income  35.8  37.5 
 Retail concessions 78.4  74.6 
 Other  42.2  39.5 
 Total commercial income  215.4  203.6 
 Total revenue  411.5  373.2 

Other income includes utilities recharges and fees for airline services and aviation fuel sales.

Property related income includes rental income and income from the sale of property developments.

1. REVENUE
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4. RESULT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2013 2012
£m £m

Turnover  411.5  373.2 

Wages and salaries1 (81.7) (69.8)
Social security costs (7.1) (6.2)
Pension costs (8.1) (5.6)
Employee benefit costs (96.9) (81.6)

Depreciation (70.0) (65.5)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets - (0.3)
Other operating charges2 (171.6) (160.3)
Result from continuing operations before significant items 73.0 65.5 

NOTES:
1 Wages and salary costs are disclosed before restructuring costs amounting to £1.1m (2012 £4.4) which are reported separately – see Note 3.
2 Other operating charges includes maintenance, rent, rates, utilities and other operating expenses.

5. EMPLOyEE INFORMATION

The average number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group during the year was:
2013 2012

Number Number
By location
Manchester Airport  2,088  2,052 
East Midlands Airport  481  243 
Bournemouth Airport  181  126 
Humberside Airport  -  155 

2,750 2,576 

Stansted Airport Limited was acquired on 28 February 2013. Stansted Airport Limited had an average number of employees from 1 April 2012  
to 31 March 2013 of 1,310.
On 2 August 2012, the Group disposed of Humberside International Airport Limited.
Employee numbers at East Midlands Airport and Bournemouth Airport have increased following the in-sourcing of security staff during the year.

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Further details of Directors’ emoluments and a description of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out on pages 52 to 55 in the Remuneration Report.

2013 2012
£m £m

Aggregate emoluments  1.9 1.4

An amount of £163,187 (2012: £203,300) was paid in to money purchase schemes  
in respect of three Directors (2012: four).

2013 2012
£m £m

Highest paid Director
Aggregate emoluments and benefits  0.7  0.5 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
3. SIGNIFICANT ITEMS

2013 2012
£m £m

Recorded in result from operations:

Acquisition costs1 28.4 - 
Restructuring costs2 1.1 4.4 
Pension credit3 - (0.4)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment4 - 38.5 

Total recorded in Result from operations 29.5 42.5 

Recorded in Finance Cost:

Amortisation of issue costs5 2.0 - 
Settlement of previous financing6 30.9 - 

Total recorded in Finance Cost 32.9 - 

Recorded in result before taxation:

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps7 6.0 -
Total recorded in result before taxation 6.0 - 

Total significant items 68.4 42.5 

NOTES:
1 Acquisition costs 

Acquisition costs of £28.4m relate to advisor costs incurred in relation to the Stansted acquisition, contracts, due diligence procedures and stamp duty on the share purchase.
2 Restructuring costs 

Restructuring costs of £1.1m (2012: £4.4m) have been incurred in respect of an organisational efficiency programme. The costs include severance pay and exceptional pension contributions.
3 Pension credit 

The pension credit in the prior year relates to a past service cost gain on the EMIA defined benefit pension scheme. The gain was the result of a government announcement in  
June 2010 that local government pension increases will link to the Consumer Price Index rather than the Retail Price Index, these changes were adopted in the EMIA scheme in 2012 
following a change in the trust deed.

4 Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
In 2012 a provision of £38.5m was made against the carrying value of property, plant and equipment at Bournemouth Airport following a review of carrying values.

5 Amortisation of issue costs 
Following the restructuring and refinancing of the Group, unamortised issue costs of £2m related to the previous term loan were written off following settlement of the associated 
financial liability. This charge has had no cash flow consequences in the period.

6 Settlement of previous financing 
Following the restructuring and refinancing of the Group, the previous term loan was settled. Settlement of this borrowing before the contractual maturity date resulted in the 
recognition of a financial liability in relation to interest cost. This financial liability was embedded into the derivative financial instruments entered into to hedge the interest exposure  
of the Group’s new borrowings. See Note 21 for further details of this non-cash charge.

7 Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps 
This represents the fair value of interest rate swaps that are classified as fair value through profit and loss.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

2013 2012
£m £m

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 10.7 9.1 
Interest payable on other borrowings 20.4 19.5 
Sub-total 31.1 28.6

Significant Finance Cost
Amortisation of issue costs on previous financing 2.0 - 
Settlement of previous financing 30.9 - 

32.9 28.6 
Total finance costs 64.0 28.6

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

8. RESULT BEFORE TAXATION

Note 2013 2012
£m £m

Result before taxation has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Hire of plant and machinery – operating leases 0.2 0.3
Hire of other assets – operating leases 10.1 10.3
Release of capital based grants (0.7) (0.8)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Owned assets – continuing operations 12 70.0 65.5
Owned assets – discontinuing operations 12 - 0.7

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investment properties - 0.3
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12 - 38.5 
Decrease in fair value of investment property 14 3.6 1.1
Employee costs 4 96.9 81.6
Pensions credit – continuing operations 3 - (0.4)
Auditors remuneration:

Audit of these financial statements 0.3 0.2
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:

Other services relating to taxation 0.1 0.1
All other services 1.3 0.6 

9. TAXATION

ANALySIS OF CHARGE IN THE PERIOD

2013 2012
£m £m

Current taxation
UK Corporation tax on profits for the year 10.3 15.9
Adjustment in respect of prior year (0.4) (1.2)
Total current taxation 9.9 14.7 

Deferred taxation
Temporary differences arising in the period (9.8) (9.8)
Adjustment in respect of prior year (0.2) 0.4 
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax (8.6) (18.2)
Total ordinary deferred taxation (18.6) (27.6)

Total taxation credit (8.7) (12.9)

TAXATION ON ITEMS CHARGED TO EQUITy

2013 2012
£m £m

Deferred taxation on actuarial losses and gains 1.4 (8.0)
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax 0.5 0.4 

1.9 (7.6)

FACTORS AFFECTING THE TAXATION CHARGE FOR THE yEAR

The total taxation charge for the year ended 31 March 2013 is lower than the standard rate of corporation taxation in the UK of 24% (2012: 26%).
The differences are explained below.

2013 2012
£m £m

Result before taxation (30.1) (6.7)

Result before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax (7.2) (1.7)
in the UK of 24% (2012: 26%)
Effect of:

 Origination and reversal of timing differences - 0.5 
 Non-taxable items 7.7 7.3 
 Adjustments to prior year taxation charge (0.6) (0.8)
 Effect of change in rate of corporation tax (8.6) (18.2)

Total taxation credit (8.7) (12.9)

The March 2012 Budget Statement announced a phased reduction to the main UK Corporation tax rate by 1% per annum to 22% by 1 April 2014.  
In the March 2013 Budget Statement it was announced that the reduction on 1 April 2014 would be by 2% to 21% with a further 1% reduction on 
1 April 2015 to 20%. The reduction to 23% on 1 April 2013 was enacted on 3 July 2012 and is the only rate reduction to have been substantively 
enacted by 31 March 2013. Deferred tax balances at 31 March 2013 have therefore been calculated at 23%. The effect of a further 1% reduction  
to the main UK Corporation tax rate when deferred tax liabilities reverse would be £14.3m.
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10. DIVIDENDS

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year: 
Dividend paid in relation to the year ended 31 March 2012 of 9.79 pence (2011: 9.79 pence) per share 20.1 20.0

Proposed normal dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 13.26 pence (2012: 9.79 pence) per share 42.0 20.0 
Proposed special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 9.47 pence (2012: nil pence) per share 30.0 -

Total proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 22.73 pence (2012: 9.79 pence) per share 72.0 20.0

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year. The group does not have any dilutive equity instruments in issue, therefore diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share.

2013 2012
Earnings Weighted average  

number of shares
Per share  

amount
Earnings Weighted average  

number of shares
Per share  
amount

£m m Pence £m m Pence

EPS attributable to ordinary shareholders –  
continuing operations

(21.4) 213.7  (10.01) 6.2 204.3 3.03

EPS attributable to ordinary shareholders –  
discontinuing operations

(0.4) 213.7 (0.19) (15.4) 204.3 (7.54)

EPS attributable to ordinary shareholders –  
before significant items

37.5 213.7 17.55 44.2 204.3 21.63

EPS attributable to ordinary shareholders –  
after significant items

(21.8) 213.7 (10.20) (9.2) 204.3 (4.50)

12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2013 Freehold land 
and property

Long leasehold 
property

Airport 
infrastructure

Plant, fixtures  
and equipment

Leased  
assets

Assets in the course of 
construction

Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2012 216.7 420.0 830.3 411.1 - 35.5 1,913.6 
Additions - 1.4 0.9 14.6 - 40.2 57.1 
Acquisitions 0.3 - 1,180.0 42.0 - 23.2 1,245.5
Reclassification - - 7.2 25.5 - (32.9) (0.2)
Disposals - - - (1.3) - - (1.3)
At 31 March 2013 217.0 421.4 2,018.4 491.9 - 66.0 3,214.7

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Depreciation
At 1 April 2012 58.0 85.4 281.0 332.2 - - 756.6 
Charge for the period 0.8 11.9 26.5 30.8 - - 70.0
Disposals - - - (1.0) - - (1.0)
At 31 March 2013 58.8 97.3 307.5 362.0 - - 825.6

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2013 158.2 324.1 1,710.9 129.9 - 66.0 2,389.1

At 31 March 2012 158.7 334.6 549.3 78.9 - 35.5 1,157.0 

2012 Freehold land 
and property

Long leasehold 
property

Airport 
infrastructure

Plant, fixtures  
and equipment

Leased  
assets

Assets in the course of 
construction

Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2011 227.8 407.1 816.3 382.2 16.3 59.1 1,908.8 
Additions - - - - - 84.9 84.9 
Reclassification (4.7) 13.1 49.6 37.3 (16.3) (107.1) (28.1)
Disposals - (0.2) (19.4) (3.4) - (0.2) (23.2)
Reclassification as assets  
held for sale

(6.4) - (16.2) (5.0) - (1.2) (28.8)

At 31 March 2012 216.7 420.0 830.3 411.1 - 35.5 1,913.6 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2011 54.8 62.0 260.0 295.4 15.7 0.4 688.3 
Charge for the period 0.6 12.3 20.7 32.6 - - 66.2 
Reclassification - - 12.9 3.2 (15.7) (0.4) - 
Impairment 5.2 11.3 13.8 8.2 - - 38.5 
Disposals - (0.2) (19.3) (3.3) - - (22.8)
Reclassification as assets  
held for sale

(2.6) - (7.1) (3.9) - - (13.6)

At 31 March 2012 58.0 85.4 281.0 332.2 - - 756.6 

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2012 158.7 334.6 549.3 78.9 - 35.5 1,157.0 

At 31 March 2011 173.0 345.1 556.3 86.8 0.6 58.7 1,220.5 

Impairment

In the prior year, an impairment charge of £38.5m was booked against the carrying value of asset at Bournemouth Airport.

2013 Freehold land 
and property

Long leasehold 
property

Airport 
infrastructure

Plant, fixtures  
and equipment

Leased  
assets

Assets in the course of 
construction

Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill  Other Intangible assets Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2012 - 20.0 20.0 
Arising on acquisition 166.3 - 166.3
Additions - 10.0 10.0 
At 31 March 2013 166.3 30.0 196.3

Amortisation
At 1 April 2012 - - - 
At 31 March 2013 - - - 

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2013 166.3 30.0 196.3

At 31 March 2012 - 20.0 20.0 

Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units based on the benefits to the Group that arise from each business combination. For the purposes of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the lowest cash generating unit at which management monitor performance and cash flows. The lowest 
level of cash generating unit is considered to be at an Airport level. The goodwill arising in the year follows the acquisition of Stansted Airport Limited 
(‘Stansted’), see Note 32 for further details.

The recoverable amount of the Stansted cash generating unit has been determined from value in use calculations. Key assumptions for the value in 
the calculation are those regarding discount rates, terminal value growth rates and expected changes to passenger and revenue growth rates, EBITDA 
margin and the level of capital expenditure required to support trading.

Discount rates have been estimated based on pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the cash generating unit. In determining the discount rate, management have sought to arrive at a risk adjusted pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of 
Capital (WACC) using the capital asset pricing model for a market participant. The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows was 6.4%. The long 
term growth rate used in calculating the terminal value was 2.5%, being consistent with the UK average post war growth rate.

The Group prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the Board covering five years. The Group  
used detailed longer term forecasts, prepared to support the investment from the Group’s new shareholder to review a period for a further 25 years.  
A terminal value is calculated beyond that point based on the growth rate described above. Sensitivity analysis shows that the discount rate would have 
to increase by over 400 basis points for an impairment to be triggered. 

Other intangible assets

The Group has secured rights to ensure that the Greater Manchester Metrolink light rail system  is extended to Manchester Airport, connecting to the 
wider Metrolink network.  The contractual agreement ensures that the Metrolink service, expected to commence in 2016, will be operated for a period 
of 30 years.  The cost of securing the rights is being capitalised pending the commencement of the operation.  It is proposed that the contract-based 
intangible will be amortised over 20 years, which the Directors believe to be the foreseeable period over which the majority of the benefits from the 
service will accrue to the Airport.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2013 Investment properties
£m

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2012 354.9 
Additions 1.6 
Acquisitions 215.2 
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction (Note 12) 0.2 
Disposals (1.9)
Revaluation (3.6)
At 31 March 2013 566.4

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2013 566.4

At 31 March 2012 354.9

2012 Investment properties
£m

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2011 334.8 
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction (Note 12) 28.1 
Reclassification as assets held for sale (5.9)
Disposals (1.0)
Revaluation (1.1)
At 31 March 2012 354.9 

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2012 354.9 

At 31 March 2011 334.8 

Investment properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 March 2013 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by Drivers 
Jonas Deloitte Chartered Surveyors for Manchester, East Midlands and Bournemouth, CBRE and Strutt & Parker carried out the valuation of the Stansted 
property portfolio. The valuers are independent and are not connected with the Group.

The valuation, which conforms to international Valuation Standards, was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar 
properties, land valuations and discounted cash flow methods.

The rental income earned by the Group from its investment property, amounted to £23.2m (2012: £23.2m).

Direct operating expenses arising on the investment property in the period amounted to £2.5m (2012: £2.5m). This includes £0.2m (2012: £0.3m)  
of operating costs where no income was derived.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
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15. INVENTORIES

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Consumables 1.5 0.9
1.5 0.9

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2013 2012
£m £m

Trade receivables 33.9 17.7
Other receivables - 2.8
Prepayments and accrued income 23.0 13.2

56.9 33.7 

The average credit period taken on sales is 16 days (2012: 14 days). An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from trade 
receivables of £1.3m (2012: £1.1m). This allowance has been determined by identifying all specific external debts where it is probable that they will  
not be recovered in full.  
This Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to fair value.   

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivable balance. The amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net  
of allowances for doubtful debts.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure over a large number of counterparties and customers.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. The level of past due debt over 90 days old is:

2013 2012
£m £m

Debt due over 90 days 1.0 0.8 
Total 1.0 0.8 

Movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
£m

Balance at 1 April 2012 1.1 
Acquisition of subsidiary 0.2 
Increase in allowance for impaired receivables 0.1 
Provision utilised (0.1)
Balance at 31 March 2013 1.3

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

As of 31 March 2013, trade receivables of £1.3m (2012: £1.1m) were considered for impairment and of which an amount of £1.3m  
(2012: £1.1m) was provided with the remaining amount expected to be fully recovered.

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in ‘operating expenses’ in the income statement. 

Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovery. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2013 2012
£m £m

Less than 60 days 0.1 0.1 
60 to 90 days 0.2 0.2 
Over 90 days 1.0 0.8 
Total 1.3 1.1 

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as all trade and other receivables are denominated in Sterling.

Additional disclosure on financial risk management is included in Note 21.

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2013 2012
£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 56.9 1.8 

Total 56.9 1.8 

The carrying value of these assets approximates to their fair value.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
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18. BORROWINGS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 19. BANK LOANS

2013 2012
£m £m

Secured Senior Term Facility £900m1 900.0 - 
Less: unamortised debt issue costs4 (14.4) - 

Unsecured bank revolving credit facility of £280.0m repayable on or before 22 December 20152 - 165.1
Less: unamortised debt issue costs4 - (2.4)

Unsecured Term Loan of £75.0m repayable on 27 June 20283 - 75.0 
Less: unamortised debt issue costs4 - (0.3)

885.6 237.4 

NOTES:
1 The Senior Term Loan facility is subject to a floating interest rate linked to LIBOR+margin. The margin is currently 150bps increasing over the life of the facility to a maximum  

of 275bps. The bank loans are secured by a floating charge over the Group’s assets.
2 The unsecured syndicated bank revolving credit facility is subject to a floating interest rate linked to LIBOR + margin. The margin is then linked to leverage and is capped  

at a maximum of 185 basis points.
3 The unsecured credit facility is subject to an underlying fixed interest rate of 5.31% + margin. The margin is linked to credit rating and leverage is capped at a maximum  

150 basis points.
4 Issue costs arising in relation to obtaining finance are amortised over the duration of the financing as part of the effective interest rate on the borrowing.

20. OTHER BORROWINGS

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Repayable other than by instalments
Shareholders’ loan at an interest rate of 12% expiring on 9 February 2055 251.9 162.5 
Less: unamortised debt issue costs (0.5) (0.5)

251.4 162.0 

Security of other borrowings

The £251.9m (2012: £162.5m) shareholders’ loan is unsecured.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

2013 2012
Notes £m £m

Overdraft - 1.1
Bank loans 19 885.6 237.4
Other borrowings 20 251.4 162.0
Derivative financial liabilities-interest rate swaps 37.3 - 

1,174.3 400.5

Borrowings are repayable as follows:
In one year or less, or on demand
Overdraft - 1.1 

- 1.1 

In more than one year, but no more than two years
Bank loans - 162.7 

- 162.7 

In more than two years, but no more than five years
Bank loans 885.6 - 
Derivative financial liabilities-interest rate swaps 37.3 - 

922.9 - 

In more than five years – due other than by instalments
Bank loans - 74.7 
Other borrowings 251.4 162.0 

251.4 236.7 
Non Current Borrowings 1,174.3 399.4 
Total Borrowings and derivative financial liabilities 1,174.3 400.5 

See Note 21 for further information on financial liabilities, including maturity analysis.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

Risk management

Group funding, liquidity and exposure to interest rate risks are managed 
by the Group’s treasury function.

Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of policies, which 
are approved and subsequently monitored by the Board. These include 
guidelines on funding, interest rate risk management and counterparty 
risk management.

Interest rate risk

The Group has an exposure to interest rate risk, arising principally 
on changes in sterling interest rates. To mitigate interest rate risk, the 
Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps 
to generate the desired interest rate profile and to manage the Group’s 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The cash balances attract interest at 
floating rates. 

Liquidity risk

The Group’s key guideline in managing liquidity risk is to limit the amount 
of borrowings maturing within 12 months to 35% of gross borrowings less 
money market demand deposits.

At the year ended 31 March 2013, M.A.G had £1,456.9m (2012 
£525.8m) of committed facilities and a net debt position of £1,117.4m 
(2012 £400.5m). M.A.G had financial headroom of £362m at the 
year end, a level comfortably in excess of the internal compliance target. 
Under existing facilities and based on the board approved three year 
business plan M.A.G is forecast to have financial headroom in excess  
of £260m throughout 2013/14.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is not materially exposed to foreign exchange risk as  
all material transactions and financial instruments are in sterling.

Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and to maintain optimal capital structure.

Credit risk

The Group manages credit exposure to its counterparties via their credit 
ratings and thus limits its exposure to any one party to ensure there are  
no significant concentrations of credit risk.

M.A.G have put in place additional measures to manage credit exposure 
within the current economic downturn. Improved knowledge of the 
customer base via risk reports and on-line aviation and financial services 
updates, this provides valuable information in relation to any changes 
with our customers or within the market and allow the Group to take  
a flexible approach to the management of risk.

Removal of credit risk associated with ad hoc customers is achieved using 
prepayments or the request of deposits, where longer term agreements 
are in place.

The Chief Financial Officer takes an active role in the management  
of credit risk, meeting with the credit management team to address 
concerns and potential issues.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
As at 31 March 2013, the Group had an undrawn committed borrowing facility available amounting to £305.0m (2012: £118.8m).

2013 2012
Floating rate Floating rate

£m  £m 
Expiring in less than one year 5.0 3.9 
Expiring in one to two years - - 
Expiring in more than two years 300.0 114.9 

305.0 118.8 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

(c) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2013 was as follows:

Derivative 
Financial 

Liability  
2013

Non-
derivative 
financial 

instruments 
2013

Total  
2013

Derivative 
financial 
liabilities  

2012

Non-derivative 
financial 
liabilities  

2012

Total  
2012

£m £m £m  £m  £m  £m 
In one year or less, or on demand - 37.1 37.1 - 35.9 35.9 
In more than one year but not more than two years - - - - - - 
In more than two years but not more than five years 37.3 885.6 922.9 - 162.7 162.7 
In more than five years - 251.4 251.4 - 236.7 236.7 

37.3 1,174.1 1,211.4 - 435.3 435.3 

This maturity profile represents the fair value of all financial liabilities, as denoted in table (d).

Financial liabilities
(a) Interest rate profile of financial liabilities
The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2013 was as follows:

2013 2012
 £m  £m 

Fixed rate financial liabilities 288.7 236.7 
Floating rate financial liabilities 885.6 163.8 

1,174.3 400.5 

Financial liabilities shown above are all denominated in sterling. 
Financial liabilities are shown net of unamortised issue costs amounting to £14.9m (2012: £3.2m).
Floating rate financial liabilities bear interest at rates based upon LIBOR, which is fixed in advance for periods of between one and twelve months.

The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such that 82% (2012: 59%) of the Group’s debt is at fixed rate of interest or is converted to 
fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements. The Group has prepared analysis on the impact of potential, likely changes in interest rates.The impact 
of interest rate swaps has been taken into account when calculating the potential impact. The result of an increase in LIBOR of 1% would be to 
increase/(decrease) profit and loss and equity by the following amounts:

2013 2012
 £m  £m 

Impact on profit and loss account and equity 34.3 (1.6)

The derivative financial instruments relate to fixed interest rate swaps. The notional amount of fixed interest rate swaps is £675m (2012: £nil), and the weighted average interest 
rate on the fixed interest rate swaps is 1.7%. The instruments are for a weighted average period of 51 months and the maximum contractual period is 4 years 11 months.

(b) Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial liabilities
2013 2012

Weighted average annual interest rate 5.59% 10.06%
Weighted average period for which interest rate is fixed 14y 5m 36y 8m
The weighted average period for non-interest bearing liabilities as at 31 March 2013 was 1year (2012: 1 year).
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAyABLES

2013 2012
£m £m

Trade payables 37.1 34.8
Other taxation and social security 4.7 2.0
Other payables 6.1 6.2
Accruals 77.0 51.0
Capital-based grants 0.7 0.7

125.6 94.7 

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

(d) Fair values versus carrying amounts of financial instruments
The following table provides a comparison, by category, of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s financial instruments as at 
31 March 2013 and 2012. Fair value is defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between 
informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale and excludes accrued interest. Where available, market values have been used to 
determine fair values. Where market values are not available, fair values have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

2013 2012
Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying  
amount

Fair value

£m  £m £m  £m 
Financial liabilities: 
Instruments held at fair value
Interest rate swaps used for hedging liabilities (net) (37.3) (37.3) - -

Instruments held at amortised cost
Bank loans and overdrafts (885.6) (885.6) (238.5) (238.5)
Trade payables (37.1) (37.1) (34.8) (34.8)
Other borrowings (251.4) (251.4) (162.0) (162.0)

(1,211.4) (1,211.4) (435.3) (435.3)

Financial assets:  
Instruments held at amortised cost
Cash at bank and in hand 56.9 56.9 1.8 1.8
Trade receivables 33.9 33.9 17.7 17.7

90.8 90.8 19.5 19.5
Net financial liabilities (1,120.6) (1,120.6) (415.8) (415.8)

Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments carried at fair value are required to be measured by reference to the following levels:

level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; –
level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)   –
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). –

All financial instruments carried at fair value have been measured by a level 2 valuation method.

Summary of methods and assumptions used for determining fair values

Interest rate swaps Fair value is based on market price of comparable instruments at the balance sheet date.

Bank loans The bank debt is stated net of unamortised issue costs of £14.4m (2012: £2.7m), which would be charged  
in full to the income statement in the event of an immediate refinancing of this debt.

Trade receivables and payables The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade receivables and payables approximates to their fair value.

Other borrowings Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal 
and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Interest rates used in determining fair vales:
2013 2012

Bank loans and overdrafts 2.01% 1.60% - 5.82%
Other borrowings 12.00% 12.00%

(e) Credit risk exposure
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying 
amount

Carrying amount

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Trade receivables 33.9 17.7
Cash at bank and in hand 56.9 1.8
Cash on short term deposit - -

Credit exposure 90.8 19.5

Further analysis on the credit risk, ageing and impairment of trade receivables can be found in Note 16.

Derivatives The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on broker quotes. 

Cash at bank, in hand and on deposit The fair values of these instruments are equal to their book values, as each instrument has a short-term maturity date.
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23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates four defined contribution schemes for all qualifying 
employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of 
the Group in funds under the control of trustees or insurance companies. 
Where there are employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully, 
the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of 
forfeited contributions.

The total cost charged to income of £1.5m (2012: £1.4m) represents 
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified  
in the rules of the plans. As at 31 March 2013, there was £0.1m  
(2012: £0.4m) of contributions due in respect of the current reporting 
period that had not been paid over to the schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates four defined benefit pension schemes as follows:

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund; –

M.A.G. (STAL) Pension scheme; –

The East Midlands International Airport Pension Scheme; –

The Airport Ventures Pension Scheme. –

Under the schemes, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits 
which vary according to length of service and final salary on attainment 
of retirement age. 

Total employer’s pension contributions for defined benefit schemes across 
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2013 amounted to £7m (2012: 
£7m), there were no one off contributions this financial year (2012: £nil).

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised immediately in the Statement  
of Recognised Income and Expense.

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF)

Certain employees of the Group in defined benefit pension schemes, 
participate in the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) administered 
by Tameside Borough Council. Of the total Group pension contributions 
noted above, some £5.1m (2012: £5.4m) related to payments into the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund.

The securities portfolio of the fund is managed by two external 
professional investment managers and the property portfolio is managed 
internally by GMPF. Participation is by virtue of Manchester Airport plc’s 
status as an ‘admitted body’ to the Fund.

The last full valuation of the fund was undertaken on 31 March 2010  
by an independent actuary. The fund was valued using the projected unit 
method. The purposes of the valuation were to determine the financial 
position of the fund and to recommend the contribution rate to be paid 
by Manchester Airport plc and the other participating employers. The 
market value of the fund’s assets at 31 March 2010 was £10,445m 
(previous valuation in 2007: £9,563m). The funding level of the scheme 
as measured using the actuarial method of valuation was 96.4% 
(previous valuation in 2007: 100%).

The principal assumptions used in the 2010 valuation were as follows:

Salary increase 4.8% per annum 
Pensions increase/Price inflation 3.8% per annum

The costs of providing pensions are charged to the income statement on 
a consistent basis over the service lives of the members. These costs are 
determined by an independent qualified actuary and any variations from 
regular costs, and are spread over the remaining working lifetime of the 
current members.

M.A.G. (STAL) Pension Scheme

On 28 February 2013, the Group acquired the entire share capital of 
Stansted Airport Limited. As part of the condition of the purchase, a new 
defined benefit pension scheme was set up in order to provide mirror 
benefits to those employees who had previously participated in the 
BAA pension scheme prior to Stansted Airport Limited‘s disposal from 
the Heathrow Airport Holdings Limited Group. Under the terms of the 
agreement with Heathrow Airport Holdings Limited, the liability at 28 
February 2013 is fully provided on an actuarial basis with a bulk transfer 
of assets from Heathrow Airport Holdings Limited to satisfy the calculated 
liability. Due to the application of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ and its 
calculation requirements, a deficit is recorded in the financial statements. 
Current employees transferred their accrued benefits to the M.A.G. (STAL) 
Pension Scheme, so no liability for pensioners or deferred members was 
transferred. As a condition of the purchase, a full actuarial valuation of 
the M.A.G. (STAL) pension scheme is required within 12 months of the 
transaction completion date.

Other Schemes

Full actuarial valuations were carried out on the other defined benefit 
schemes as follows:

East Midlands International Airport Pension Scheme   –
(EMIA) – 6 April 2011

Airport Ventures Pension Scheme – 6 April 2009. –

The aggregate market value of the assets in the EMIA scheme at the 
date of the latest actuarial valuation was £39m, which represented 
approximately 82% of the present value of the liabilities. The fund was 
valued using the projected unit method. The other schemes are not 
significant to the Group and details of their valuations are included  
in the relevant entity’s financial statements. The numerical disclosure 
provided below for the defined benefit schemes is based on the most 
recent actuarial valuations disclosed above, which have been updated  
by independent qualified actuaries to take account of the requirements  
of IAS 19. The key assumptions used are as follows:

23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS continued

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures
2013 2012 2011 2013 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Rate of increase in salaries1 2.20% 3.20% 4.30% 3.60% 2.00% 3.20% 4.30% 2.20% 3.20% 4.30%
Rate of increase of pensions in payment2 2.50% 2.50% 2.80% 3.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.80% 2.50% 2.50% 2.80%
Discount rate 4.40% 4.95% 5.50% 4.60% 4.40% 4.95% 5.50% 4.40% 4.95% 5.50%
Inflation assumption 2.50% 2.50% 2.80% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 3.60% 2.50% 2.50% 3.60%

NOTES:
1 The salary increase assumption adopted is as follows:

Year 1 to 2
Year 3
Year 4
Years 5 and onwards

2013
1.80%
1.90%
3.30%
2.20%

2012
3.20%
2.50%
3.50%
3.50%

2 This refers to pensions in payment that increase in line with inflation. There are some elements of pensions in payment that increase at a fixed rate or do not increase at all.

GMPF life expectancy is based upon the Fund’s Vita Curves with improvements in line with a 1% underpin from 1 April 2010 adopted in the  
latest valuation 31 March 2010. Historic life expectancy have been valued using the PMA92 and PFA2 mortality tables.
EMIA, East Riding and Ventures life expectancy is based upon S1NMA and S1NFA tables with improvements in line with a 1% underpin from  
1 April 2010. Historic life expectancy have been valued using the PMA92 and PFA2 mortality tables.

The attributable share of assets in schemes and the expected long-term rate of return as at 31 March 2013:

Rate of return Value Rate of return Value Rate of return Value
2013 2013 2012 2012 2011 2011

% £m % £m % £m
Equities and property 5.57% 372.8 6.16% 259.3 7.35% 246.9 
Bonds 3.50% 69.7 3.90% 66.1 4.90% 62.4 
Other 3.00% 43.6 3.50% 23.5 4.60% 39.4 

486.1 348.9  348.7 

The M.A.G (STAL) Pension scheme assets (£105.7m) are to be transferred to the scheme management within six months of the acquisition date.  
From the period of acquisition, the bulk transfer of assets is assumed to be split as 80% equities (£84.6m) and 20% as cash (£21.1m). Asset values  
will track financial indices accordingly prior to the bulk transfer.

Details of the net pension liability by scheme is as follows:

Total market value  
of assets

Present value  
of scheme liabilities

(Deficit)/Surplus  
in the scheme

£m £m £m
GMPF1

2013 330.3 (389.7) (59.4)
2012 295.0 (359.9) (64.9)
2011 297.7 (335.3) (37.6)
2010 288.5 (354.9) (66.4)
2009 216.1 (236.9) (20.8)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
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23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS continued

Movement in deficit during year

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total
2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
(Deficit) in scheme at  
beginning of year

(64.9) (37.6) - (10.3) (7.1) - - (75.2) (44.7)

Movement in year: - - - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary - (8.7) - - (8.7)
Current service cost (3.3) (3.9) (0.6) (1.1) (1.4) - - (5.0) (5.3)
Past service cost/(credit) (0.2) (0.6) - - 0.4 - - (0.2) (0.2)
Contributions 5.1 5.4 0.7 1.2 1.2 - - 7.0 6.6
Other finance (expense) (1.3) 1.2 0.2 (0.3) (0.1) - (1.4) 1.1
Actuarial gain/(loss) in SOCI 5.2 (29.4) 1.6 (0.8) (3.3) - - 6.0 (32.7)

(Deficit) in scheme at end of year (59.4) (64.9) (6.8) (11.3) (10.3) - - (77.5) (75.2)

The total actuarial (loss)/gains for the 2011 and 2010 periods were (£14.6m) and (£48.6m) respectively.

Amount recognised in the statement comprehensive income (SOCI)

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total
2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Actual return less expected  
return on pension scheme assets

25.9 (15.1) 1.9 3.3 (0.1)  0.4 - 31.5 (15.2)

Experience (losses)/gains  
arising on scheme liabilities

- - - -  - - - - -

Changes in assumptions  
underlying the present value  
of the scheme liabilities

(20.7) (14.3) (0.3) (4.1) (3.2) (0.4) - (25.5) (17.5)

 - 
Actuarial gain/(loss)  
recognised in SOCI

5.2 (29.4) 1.6 (0.8) (3.3)  - - 6.0 (32.7)

During the year, the company disposed of Humberside International Airport. In the current and comparative period Humberside International Airport 
was presented as a Discontinued Operations. The balance sheet at 31 March 2012 presented all assets and liabilities of Humberside International 
Airport as a single line item, including the net pension liability of £1m on the East Ridings Pension Scheme. At 31 March 2013 the scheme assets were 
£nil (2012: £9.7m) and scheme liabilities were £nil (2012: £10.7m).

23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS continued

Stansted
2013 105.7 (112.5) (6.8)

EMIA
2013 46.6 (57.9) (11.3)
2012 41.2 (51.5) (10.3)
2011 38.7 (45.8) (7.1)
2010 35.7 (42.7) (7.0)
2009 26.0 (29.6) (3.6)

Airport Ventures3

2013  3.5 (3.5) -
2012 3.0 (3.0) -
2011  3.0 (3.0) -
2010 2.8 (2.8) 0.0
2009 1.9 (1.3) 0.6

Total2

2013 486.1 (563.6) (77.5)
2012 339.2 (414.4) (75.2)
2011 339.4 (384.1) (44.7)
2010 336.3 (412.4) (76.1)
2009 250.5 (275.2) (24.7)
NOTES:
1 The figures as shown represent the proportion of the schemes which are attributable to the Group. £6.7m (2012 £6.6m) of the liabilities are unfunded.
2 The retirement benefit liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 March 2012 excluded the deficit of £1.0m of the East Riding scheme,  

which was reclassified to liabilities held for sale.
3 The Airport Ventures Scheme has a surplus of £1.1m (2012: £1.1m). This surplus has not been recognised in line with ‘IFRIC 14’ as the surplus cannot be recovered  

by reducing future contributions.

Analysis of the amount charged/(credited) to operating profit

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total
2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Current Service Cost of Defined 
Benefit Schemes

3.3 3.9 0.6 1.1 1.4  -  - 5.0 5.3

Past service cost 0.2 0.6  - (0.4)  -  - 0.2 0.2 
Expected return on pension  
scheme assets

(16.3) (19.4) (0.6) (2.2) (2.4) (0.1) (0.1) (19.2) (21.9)

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 17.6 18.2 0.4 2.5 2.5 0.1 0.1 20.6 20.8
 -

Net amount charged against income 4.8 3.3 0.4 1.4 1.1  -  - 6.6 4.4 

The above charge has been included in operating expenses.

Total market value  
of assets

Present value  
of scheme liabilities

(Deficit)/Surplus  
in the scheme

£m £m £m

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
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23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS continued

Movement in present value of defined benefit obligations

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total
2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
1 April 359.9 335.3 - 51.5 45.8 3.0 3.0 414.4 384.1
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 111.1 - - - - 111.1 -
Service cost 3.5 4.5 0.6 1.1 1.0 - - 5.2 5.5
Benefits paid and employee 
contributions

(12.0) (12.4) 0.1 (1.3) (1.0) - - (13.2) (13.4)

Interest cost 17.6 18.2 0.4 2.5 2.5 0.1 - 20.6 20.7
Actuarial gains and losses 20.7 14.3 0.3 4.1 3.2 0.4 - 25.5 17.5

31 March 389.7 359.9 112.5 57.9 51.5 3.5 3.0 563.6 414.4

Movement in fair value of scheme assets
GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total

2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

1 April 295.0 297.7 - 41.2 38.7 3.0 3.0 339.2 339.4
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 102.4 - - - - 102.4 -
Expected return on scheme assets 16.3 19.4 0.6 2.2 2.5 0.1 19.2 21.9
Contributions 5.1 5.4 0.7 1.2 1.2 - - 7.0 6.6
Benefits paid and employee 
contributions

(12.0) (12.4) 0.1 (1.3) (1.1) - - (13.2) (13.5)

Actuarial gains and losses 25.9 (15.1) 1.9 3.3 (0.1) 0.4 - 31.5 (15.2)

31 March 330.3 295.0 105.7 46.6 41.2  3.5 3.0 486.1 339.2

History of experience gains and losses

GMPF Stansted EMIA Ventures Total
2013 2012 2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Difference between actual and 
expected returns on assets amount

25.9 (15.1) 1.9 3.3 (0.1) 0.4 0.0 31.5 (15.2)

% of scheme assets 7.8% (5.1%) 1.8% 7.1% (0.2%) 11.8% 0.0% 28.5% (4.5%)
Experience gains and losses on 
liabilities amount

- - - - - - - - -

% of scheme liabilities - - - - - - - - -
Total amount recognised in SOCI 5.2 (29.4) 1.6 (0.8) (3.3) 0.0 - 6.0 (32.7)
% of scheme liabilities 1.3% (8.2%) 1.4% (1.4%) (6.4%) 0.0% 0.0% 1.3% (7.9%)

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the schemes during the financial year to 31 March 2014 is £13.1m (31 March 2013: £6.5m)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group  
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting periods.

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances

Investment 
properties and 

operational  
assets carried  

at deemed cost

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations

Tax  
losses

Fair value 
acquisition 
adjustment

Short term  
timing 

differences

Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2012  114.8  92.3 (18.0)  -  6.6  0.2 195.9 
Arising on acquisition 59.3 40.6 (9.3) - 59.7 (0.3) 150.0 
Charge/(credit) to income (7.0) (10.0) 0.2 - (0.6) 0.1 (17.3)
Charge/(credit) to equity - - 2.3 - (0.3) (1.4) 0.6

At 31 March 2013 167.1 122.9 (24.8) - 65.4 (1.4) 329.2

At 1 April 2011 131.5 107.5 (11.7) (0.9) 7.1 (0.1) 233.4 
Charge/(credit) to income –  
continuing operations

(14.2) (14.2) 0.5  -  -  0.3 (27.6)

Charge/(credit) to income –  
discontinuing operations

(0.2) (0.1) 0.1  -  -  - (0.2)

Charge/(credit) to equity - - (7.1)  - (0.5) - (7.6)
Reclassification to assets  
held for sale

(2.3) (0.9) 0.2 0.9 - 0 (2.1)

At 31 March 2012 114.8 92.3 (18.0) - 6.6 0.2 195.9 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the disclosure above.  
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balance for financial reporting purposes:

2013 2012
£m £m

Deferred tax liabilities (355.4) (213.9)
Deferred tax assets 26.2 18.0

(329.2) (195.9)
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28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not been provided for in the financial statements 22.4 37.6

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability exists in respect of claims that have been made from individual property owners in respect of alleged loss of property value  
arising from the development and use of new or extended airport runways. 

A contingent liability exists in respect of development work in relation to access roads for standard contractual defect periods.   

The Group will defend any proceedings in respect of these claims and, whilst the outcome of these claims is currently uncertain, it is the Directors’ 
opinion based on legal and property advice that no further material cost will be incurred.

27. RESERVES

Retained earnings
£m

At 1 April 2012 557.6 
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit liabilities 6.0
Deferred tax on retirement benefits actuarial movements (1.4)
Effect of change in rate of Corporation tax on deferred tax (0.5)
Loss for the year after dividends  (41.9)

At 31 March 2013 519.8

2013 2012
Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds: £m  £m 

Opening shareholders’ funds 761.9  817.0 
Total recognised income/(expense) for the year (17.7) (35.1)
Issue of ordinary shares 799.6 -
Dividends paid in the year (20.1) (20.0)

Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 March 1,523.7 761.9

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Ordinary shares of £1 each
Number of 

shares 
£m Share Premium

£m
Total
£m

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 April 2011 204.3 204.3 - 204.3
At 31 March 2012 204.3 204.3 - 204.3

Issue of share capital 112.4 112.4 687.2 799.6 
 

At 31 March 2013 316.7 316.7 687.2 1,003.9

Share capital history

The ultimate parent company of the group, Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, was incorporated on 9 January 2013.

On 22nd January 2013, the Company issued 204,280,000 ordinary £1 shares in exchange for an investment in The Manchester Airport Group plc.

On 28 February 2013, by way of shareholder agreement, the issued ordinary share capital was converted to non-voting shares and 10 voting A shares.

On 28 February 2013, the Company issued 112,354,000 non-voting £1 shares and 10 B shares for consideration of £799.6m, giving rise to a share 
premium of £687.2m.

A and B shares carry equal voting rights but do not carry any rights to receive dividends or distributions.

Non-voting ordinary shares carry equal rights to receive dividends and distributions.

The capital structure at the end of the financial year represents that of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited. There were no issues of share capital for 
The Manchester Airport Group plc in the period prior to the reorganisation.

2013 2012
£m  £m 

Accruals and deferred income 6.1 6.0
Capital-based grants 9.6 10.2

15.7 16.2

25. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
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30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At 31 March 2013 the Group has commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which expire as follows:

2013 2012
Land Other Land Other

£m £m £m £m
Expiring within one year - - - 0.1 
Expiring between two and five years inclusive - 0.4 - 0.3
Expiring in over five years. 42.1 - 44.0 - 

42.1 0.4 44.0 0.4 

In addition to the amounts stated above the Group also has a commitment in respect of a land lease with The Council of the City of Manchester,  
a related party as described in Note 31. 

The minimum amount payable on the lease is £9.2m per annum with an additional amount payable related to turnover, the lease expires in 2085. 

The Group receives income from property leases, which are typically for a duration of 3-10 years and subject to periodic rent reviews. 

Lease and sublease payments recognised in the income statement are summarised in Note 8 and Note 14.

31. RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS

Transactions involving The Council of the City of Manchester 
The Council of the City of Manchester ‘MCC’ is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited as MCC owns 35.5% of the share capital  
of the Company. During the year the Group entered into the following transactions with MCC.

As at 31 March 2013 the amount of loans outstanding owed to MCC was £83.2m (2012: £83.2m). The Group made loan repayments of £nil  
(2012: £nil) to MCC during the year and paid interest of £10m (2012: £10m).

As at 31 March 2013 the amount of loans outstanding owed to the other nine councils was £79.4m (2012: £79.4m). The Group made loan 
repayments of £nil (2012: £nil) to the other nine councils during the year and paid interest of £9.5m (2012: £9.5m).

Included in external charges are charges for rent and rates amounting to £23.7m (2012: £23.6m) and other sundry charges of £0.1m (2012: £0.1m). 
The majority of these amounts are due to MCC. The remainder are collected by MCC and distributed to other local authorities.

Industry Funds Management (IFM) through its subsidiary is a related party to MAHL as IFM owns 35.5 % of the share capital of the company. During 
the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with IFM: 

As at 31 March 2013 the amount of loans outstanding owed to IFM was £89.4m (2012: £nil). The Group made loan repayments of £nil (2012: £nil) 
to IFM during the year and paid interest of £0.9m (2012: £nil).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued
32. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Accounting policy adjustments

The book values of acquired assets and liabilities of Stansted Airport 
Limited have been restated in accordance with the accounting policies 
adopted by the Group. The two policy adjustments relate to car park assets 
which have been reclassified from investment property to operational 
assets and the alignment of specific inventory provision policies. 
Reclassification of car park assets does not have an impact on the assets 
acquired. Alignment of the inventory provision policy reduces acquired 
assets by £0.8m. Inventory is recorded at its fair value on acquisition.

Fair value adjustments

An exercise was undertaken in accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised)  
‘Business Combinations’ by the Group to establish the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities which were acquired. As required under IFRS 
3 (Revised), the valuation assigned to the assets and liabilities will be 
reassessed within 12 months of the acquisition date and adjustment to the 
provisional valuations will be recorded against goodwill. The fair values 
shown above are the amendments necessary to the carrying values of the 
assets and liabilities to reflect the fair values established. The basis of the 
valuation is set out below:

Investment Properties – Fair value in accordance with the Group’s  –
accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment – depreciated replacement cost –

Deferred profit from previous asset sales have been fair valued to £nil where 
there are no further performance conditions to satisfy and no future cash 
flows expected. Deferred tax has been provided for all fair value adjustments.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Stansted Airport Limited works under a single-till model of regulation. 
Management do not consider it appropriate to separately calculate a fair 
value for the permission to levy charges (‘right to operate’) as the single-
till regulation introduces too much interdependency on other variables 
and valuations to render its fair value measurable. These rights to operate 
which would have an indefinite life have been included, together with the 
associated deferred tax, within goodwill. Goodwill also represents the 
value of the workforce, efficiencies that the shareholders expect to achieve 
from operations, optimisation of financing structures of the Group and the 
ability to develop new commercial relationships.

Acquisitions 
On 28 February 2013, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Stansted Airport Limited from Heathrow Airport Holdings Limited for total 
consideration of £1,500m settled in cash.   

Stansted Airport is the UK’s fourth largest airport, and its acquisition represents a strategic move for the Group which will provide new opportunities to 
enter into new markets in London and South East as well as providing additional scale and reach for the Group to generate synergies and efficiencies.

The provisional amounts recognised in respect of identifiable assets and liabilities relating to the acquisitions were as follows:

Acquiree’s net assets/(liabilities) at the acquisition date.
Provisional carrying  

amounts
Provisional accounting 

policy adjustments
Provisional fair value 

adjustments
Provisional fair value of 

assets acquired
£m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 628.6 365.0 251.9 1,245.5
Investment properties 577.0 (365.0) 3.1 215.1
Intangible assets 0.1 - (0.1) 0.0
Inventories 1.8 (1.1) - 0.7
Trade receivables 28.3 - - 28.3
Cash and Cash equivalents 31.3 - - 31.3
Trade and other payables (34.2) - 5.5 (28.7)
Retirement benefit liabilities - - (8.7) (8.7)
Deferred tax (liabilities )/assets (92.4) 0.3 (57.7) (149.8)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 1,140.5 (0.8) 194.0 1,333.7
Goodwill arising 166.3
Total consideration 1,500.0
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32. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS continued 33. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

2012 Cash flow Other non-cash  
movements

2013

£m £m £m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 1.8 55.1 - 56.9 
Cash on short term deposit - - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents disclosed on the statement of financial position 1.8 55.1 - 56.9 
Overdrafts (1.1) 1.1 - - 
Total cash and cash equivalents (including overdrafts) 0.7 56.2 - 56.9 
Current debt - - - - 
Non-current debt (399.4) (736.9) (0.7) (1,137.0)
Interest rate swap derivatives - - (37.3) (37.3)
Net debt (398.7) (680.7) (38.0) (1,117.4)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 continued

Cash flows associated with this acquisition are included in the cash flow statement as follows:
£m

Total cash paid 1,138.3
Liabilities settled on behalf of acquiree 361.7
Total cash paid 1,500.0
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired (31.3)
Net cash outflow on acquisition 1,468.7

Acquisition costs of £28.4m were incurred in relation to the legal procedures, due diligence procedures and stamp duty. These costs have been 
included as a ‘Significant Item’ in the Income Statement, see Note 3.

Receivables are stated at their fair value. Gross contractual receivables are not materially different to fair value. All contractual cash flows are  
expected to be collected. 

In the period from acquisition to 31 March 2013, Stansted Airport Limited contributed revenue of £18.4m and a reported loss after tax of £1.4m  
to the consolidated result for the year. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2012, the Group’s consolidated revenue would have been £635.5m 
and profit after tax would have been £26.9m for the year ended 31 March 2013.     

Disposals     

On 2 August 2012, the Group disposed of its entire shareholding in Humberside International Airport. The cash generating unit was classified  
as held for sale at 31 March 2012.

£m
Loss on disposal (0.6)

Result from operations (net of tax) 0.2 
Result from discontinued operations (net of tax) (0.4)
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We have audited the parent company financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2013 
set out on pages 106 to 110. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK 
Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Directors have engaged us to audit the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited, which the Directors have decided to prepare (in addition to that required 
to be prepared) as if the company were required to comply with the requirements of Schedule 8 of The Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008 No. 410) made under the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 
and, in respect of the separate opinion in relation to the Directors’ Remuneration Report, on terms that have been agreed. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and, in respect of the separate opinion in relation to the Directors’ Remuneration Report, those matters that we have agreed to state 
to them in our report, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 59, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit,  
and express an opinion on, the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards  
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinion the parent company financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2013; ■

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and ■

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. ■

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED By THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 AND UNDER THE TERMS  
OF OUR ENGAGEMENT

In our opinion:

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report which we were engaged to audit has been properly prepared in accordance with  ■

Schedule 8 to The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 made under the 
Companies Act 2006, as if those requirements were to apply to the company; and

the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent   ■

with the parent company financial statements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT By EXCEPTION

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the terms of our engagement require 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received  ■

from branches not visited by us; or

the parent company financial statements or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report which we were engaged to audit are not  ■

in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or ■

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. ■

OTHER MATTER

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2013. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MANCHESTER AIRPORTS HOLDINGS LTD. 

Jonathan Hurst (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
St James’ Square, Manchester M2 6DS 
10 July 2013

M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13

magworld.co.uk

105
M.A.G Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13104 COMPANy FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COMPANy FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with applicable accounting standards  
in the United Kingdom and the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies that the Company has adopted in respect of the material items shown in the Balance Sheet, and also 
 to determine profit and loss as shown below. Unless stated otherwise, these have been applied on a consistent basis.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a Cash flow Statement under the terms of Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘FRS 1’) (revised 1996). Furthermore, the Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 from disclosing related party 
transactions with entities that are part of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Intercompany accounting
Intercompany balances are stated at historic cost.

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less any provision for diminution in value. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
COMPANy BALANCE SHEET AT 31 MARCH 2013

2013
£m

Note
Fixed assets
Investments 3 2,253.1

2,253.1

Current assets
Debtors -
Cash at bank and in hand -

-

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - 

Net current assets -

Total assets less current liabilities 2,253.1

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year -

Net assets 2,253.1

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 4  316.6 
Share Premium 5  687.2 
Profit and loss account 5  1,249.3 
Equity shareholders’ funds  2,253.1 

The financial statements on pages 106 to 110 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 July 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

COMPANy BALANCE SHEET

Mike Davies 
Chairman 
M.A.G

Charlie Cornish 
Chief Executive 
M.A.G
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1. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

2013
 £m 

Auditors remuneration:
Audit of these financial statements 0.3
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:

Other services relating to taxation 0.2
All other services 1.3

2. PROFIT ON ORDINARy ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION FOR THE COMPANy

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act, the Company’s profit and loss account has not been included in these financial statements. As showing 
in Note 6, the loss attributable to the shareholders includes a loss of £nil before dividends, is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

3. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Subsidiary undertakings
£m

Cost and net book value
At 31 March 2013 2,253.1

Particulars of principal subsidiary undertakings are listed on page 110, which forms part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

4. SHARE CAPITAL

Number (m) £m
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
316,634,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 316.6 316.6 
At 31 March 2013 316.6 316.6 

6. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITy SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

2013 
£m

Issue of ordinary shares 2,253.1
Net increase in equity shareholders' funds 2,253.1
Opening equity shareholders' funds -
Closing equity shareholders' funds 2,253.1

5. RESERVES

Share Premium 
£m

Profit and loss account  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 April 2012 - - - 
Movement in the year  687.2 1,249.3 1,936.5 
At 31 March 2013 687.2 1,249.3 1,936.5 

On 22nd January 2013, the Company issued 204,280,000 ordinary £1 shares in exchange for an investment in The Manchester Airport Group plc, which 
was recorded at fair value of £1,453,609,000. The excess of fair value of the consideration over the share capital of £1,249.3m was recorded in reserves.

On 28 February 2013, by way of shareholder agreement, the issued ordinary share capital was converted to non-voting shares and 10 voting A shares.

On 28 February 2013, the Company issued 112,354,000 non-voting £1 shares and 10 B shares for consideration of £799.6m, giving rise to a share 
premium of £687.2m

A and B Shares carry equal voting rights but do not carry any rights to receive dividends or distributions.

Non-voting ordinary shares carry equal rights to receive dividends and distributions.
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARy UNDERTAKINGS

Name of undertaking Description of  
shares held

Proportion of 
nominal value  
of issues shares 
held by Group

Company Principal activities

Airport Advertising Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Airport City (Manchester) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Property Holding Company
Airport Petroleum Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Bainsdown Limited Ordinary Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property holding company
Bournemouth Airport Core Property Investments Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Bournemouth Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
Bournemouth Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
Bournemouth International Airport Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Airport operator
East Midlands Airport Core Property Investments Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
East Midlands Airport Nottingham Derby Leicester Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Intermediate holding company of 

East Midlands International Airport 
Bournemouth International Airport 
Limited

East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Hotels) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
East Midlands International Airport Limited Ordinary £1 shares 

9% cumulative redeemable 
preference shares

100% 
100%

Airport operator

Manchester Airport Aviation Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Intermediate holding company for 
Ringway Handling Services Limited 
and Ringway Handling Limited

Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport Group Finance Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport Group plc Investments Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airports Group Property Developments Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property development company
Manchester Airports Group Property Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property management company
Manchester Airport Group plc Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport plc Ordinary £1 shares 100% Airport operator
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Hotels) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Investment property holding company
Manchester Airport Ventures Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Intermediate holding company for 

Airport Advertising Limited and Airport 
Petroleum Limited

Ringway Developments plc Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property holding company
Ringway Handling Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Ringway Handling Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Worknorth Limited 7% cumulative redeemable 

preference shares 
Ordinary £1 shares

100% 
100%

Non trading

Worknorth II Limited 7% cumulative redeemable 
preference shares 
Ordinary £1 shares

100% 
100%

Non trading

All the above companies operate in their country of incorporation or registration, which is England and Wales.   
The Directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length.  
A full list of subsidiary undertakings as at 31 March 2013 will be appended to the Company’s next annual return.
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This report is printed onto Evolution, an uncoated stock made from 100% recycled fibre.
Printed using REACH compliant press and consumables in a carbon neutral certified environment.

Manchester Airport Group plc is committed to helping the environment. Please recycle this document after use.
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